
City Plan Commission

City of Appleton

Meeting Agenda - Final

100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

Any questions about items on this meeting are to be directed to 

the Community and Economic Development Department, 

920-832-6468.

Council Chambers, 6th Floor3:30 PMWednesday, December 14, 2022

1. Call meeting to order

2. Roll call of membership

3. Approval of minutes from previous meeting

22-1520 City Plan Minutes from 11-9-22

City Plan Minutes 11-9-22.pdfAttachments:

4. Public Hearings/Appearances

22-1521 Rezoning #5-22 for the subject parcel located at 1208 N. Oneida Street 

(Tax Id #31-6-0329-00), including the adjacent one-half (1/2) right-of-way of 

N. Oneida Street, as shown on the attached maps, from C-2 General 

Commercial District to R-2 Two-Family District (Associated with Action 

Item #22-1522)

InformalPublicHearingNotice_1208NOneidaSt_Rezoning#5-22.pdfAttachments:

22-1523 The street discontinuance to vacate portions of Appleton Street, Pacific 

Street, and Oneida Street public right-of-way, generally located north of 

Packard Street and south of Atlantic Street, subject to the condition in the 

attached staff report, and adopt the Initial Resolution and exhibit maps 

(Associated with Action Item #22-1524)

InformalPublicHearingNotice_AppletonStPacificStOneidaSt_StreetVacation.pdfAttachments:

22-1525 Zoning Ordinance Text and Map Amendments to Article X Floodplain 

Zoning of Chapter 23 of the Municipal Code relating to Section 23-205(b)

(2) General provisions; Official maps and revisions; Official maps based 

on other studies related to LOMR - Case #21-05-2374P, as identified in 

the attached staff report (Associated with Action Item #22-1526)

NoticeofInformalPublicHearing_AmendFloodplainOrd_LOMR_21-05-2374P_2022.pdfAttachments:

5. Action Items

Page 1 City of Appleton Printed on 12/9/2022

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22069
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=30322f5e-9ce4-4036-93aa-f07fa4301b9c.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22070
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=166bed2e-a9a0-4f9d-9784-4e93b096899f.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22072
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e7269f80-6260-4f7f-9055-1b91907c7ca1.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22074
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=0c320f10-a681-487f-81ae-398b75921659.pdf


December 14, 2022City Plan Commission Meeting Agenda - Final

22-1522 Request to approve Rezoning #5-22 for the subject parcel located at 1208 

N. Oneida Street (Tax Id #31-6-0329-00), including the adjacent one-half 

(1/2) right-of-way of N. Oneida Street, as shown on the attached maps, 

from C-2 General Commercial District to R-2 Two-Family District

StaffReport_1208NOneidaSt_Rezoning_For 12-14-22.pdfAttachments:

22-1524 Request to approve the street discontinuance to vacate portions of 

Appleton Street, Pacific Street, and Oneida Street public right-of-way, 

generally located north of Packard Street and south of Atlantic Street, 

subject to the condition in the attached staff report, and adopt the Initial 

Resolution and exhibit maps

StaffReport_AppletonStPacificStOneidaSt_StreetVacation_For12-14-22.pdfAttachments:

22-1526 Request to approve Zoning Ordinance Text and Map Amendments to 

Article X Floodplain Zoning of Chapter 23 of the Municipal Code relating to 

Section 23-205(b)(2) General provisions; Official maps and revisions; 

Official maps based on other studies related to LOMR - Case 

#21-05-2374P, as identified in the attached staff report

StaffReport_AmendFloodplainOrd_NorthEdgewoodEst_LOMR_For12-14-22.pdfAttachments:

22-1527 Request to approve Certified Survey Map #30-22, which crosses a plat 

boundary, for 1201 Banta Court and 1100 E. South River Street (Tax Id 

#31-4-0279-00, 31-4-0279-01, 31-4-0805-00, 31-4-0819-00, 

31-4-0820-00, 31-4-0823-00 & 31-4-0823-01) to combine the 7 existing 

parcels as shown on the attached map and subject to the conditions in the 

attached staff report

StaffReport_Whiting Field-Banta Bowl_CrossingPlatBoundary_For12-14-22.pdfAttachments:

6. Information Items

22-1579 Proposed Draft Text Amendments to Chapter 17 Subdivision Ordinance of 

the Municipal Code

StaffReport_DraftTextAmendment_ParklandAndTrails_For12-14-22.pdf

FINAL 2022 Fee in Lieu Baker Tilly.pdf

Attachments:

7. Adjournment

Notice is hereby given that a quorum of the Common Council may be present during this 

meeting, although no Council action will be taken.

Reasonable Accommodations for Persons with Disabilities will be made upon Request 

and if Feasible.

Page 2 City of Appleton Printed on 12/9/2022

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22071
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e6c055c5-aa98-478b-9f65-df9492da7242.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22073
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=57d031ff-d395-43dd-9e11-cc29210cf500.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22075
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6249eff1-704c-4bed-9b77-2ab55cfdf894.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22076
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5cc5c225-f153-4c8c-b9b7-bda386504850.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22128
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7f2549c0-68ad-4cff-ac73-91aa58d488fe.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ab255a49-b53d-49d2-b072-3acad8914ee2.pdf


100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

City of Appleton

Meeting Minutes - Final

City Plan Commission

Any questions about items on this meeting are to be directed 

to the Community and Economic Development Department, 

920-832-6468.

3:30 PM Council Chambers, 6th FloorWednesday, November 9, 2022

Call meeting to order1.

Meeting called to order by Chair Mayor Woodford at 3:31 p.m.

Roll call of membership2.

Robins, Mayor Woodford, Fenton, Buetow and DanePresent: 5 - 

Palm and UitenbroekExcused: 2 - 

Others present:

Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, District #5

Christian Cabrera, Bergmann Associates

Approval of minutes from previous meeting3.

22-1440 City Plan Minutes from 10-26-22

City Plan Minutes 10-26-22.pdfAttachments:

Fenton moved, seconded by Dane, that the Minutes be approved. Roll Call. 

Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Robins, Mayor Woodford, Fenton, Buetow and Dane5 - 

Excused: Palm and Uitenbroek2 - 

Public Hearings/Appearances4.

Page 1City of Appleton



November 9, 2022City Plan Commission Meeting Minutes - Final

22-1441 Special Use Permit #13-22 for gasoline sales and a car wash use 

located at 1935 E. Calumet Street (Tax Id #31-9-1115-00), as shown on 

the attached materials and per attached plan of operation, to run with the 

land subject to the conditions in the attached staff report and approve 

attached Resolution (Associated with Action Item #22-1442)

ClassIIPublicHearingNoticeNewspaper_1935ECalumetSt_SUP#13-22.

pdf

PublicHearingNoticeNeighborhood_1935ECalumetSt_SUP#13-22.pdf

Attachments:

This public hearing was held, and no one spoke on the item.

Action Items5.

22-1442 Request to approve Special Use Permit #13-22 for gasoline sales and a 

car wash use located at 1935 E. Calumet Street (Tax Id #31-9-1115-00), 

as shown on the attached materials and per attached plan of operation, 

to run with the land subject to the conditions in the attached staff report 

and approve attached Resolution (2/3 vote of Common Council required 

for approval)

StaffReport_Circle K-Holiday Gas Station+Car 

Wash_SUP_For11-9-22.pdf

Doug Gordon Email 11-5-22.pdf

Steve Winter Email 11-7-22.pdf

Kaiti Abbott + Danny Damiani Email 11-7-22.pdf

Attachments:

Staff received emails from Doug Gordon, Steve Winter, and Kaiti Abbott & Danny 

Damiani expressing concerns about the proposed Special Use Permit.  The emails 

were distributed to the Plan Commission members at the meeting and are attached.

Buetow moved, seconded by Robins, that the Report Action Item be 

recommended for approval. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Robins, Mayor Woodford, Fenton, Buetow and Dane5 - 

Excused: Palm and Uitenbroek2 - 

Information Items6.

Adjournment7.

Fenton moved, seconded by Robins, that the meeting be adjourned at 3:43 

p.m. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Robins, Mayor Woodford, Fenton, Buetow and Dane5 - 

Excused: Palm and Uitenbroek2 - 

Page 2City of Appleton



NOTICE OF INFORMAL PUBLIC HEARING 

 

OF THE 

 

APPLETON CITY PLAN COMMISSION 

 
 

Dear property owner(s): 

 

The City of Appleton Plan Commission will conduct an Informal Public Hearing on Wednesday, 

December 14, 2022, at 3:30 P.M., or as soon thereafter as can be heard, in Common Council 

Chambers, 6th Floor, City Hall, 100 North Appleton Street for the following proposed rezoning 

request: 

 

Proposed Rezoning Request:  The applicant, Jim Fletcher, is requesting to rezone Property Tax 

Id #31-6-0329-00 located at 1208 North Oneida Street, including the adjacent one-half (1/2) right-

of-way, as shown on the attached maps, from C-2 General Commercial District to R-2 Two-Family 

District. 

 

Reason for the Rezoning Request:  The applicant states: “The property is an older house 

currently set up with a kitchen, bath, 2 bedrooms and living area on the first floor and 2nd floor.  

We request rezoning back to R-2 in order to make repairs and renovate the property to a modern, 

affordable rent, 2 unit property.  The property accommodates parking for 2 units and we feel this 

would have a positive economical impact for the city.” 

 

ALDERMANIC DISTRICT: 1 – Alderperson William Siebers 

 

You are being notified as a policy of the City of Appleton Community and Economic Development 

Department.  All persons interested are invited to attend this meeting and will be given an 

opportunity to be heard.  Feedback can also be shared with Plan Commission members via written 

letter, email, or phone call.  The Plan Commission makes a recommendation to the Common 

Council who makes the final decision on the matter.   

 

Any questions regarding this matter should be directed to Don Harp, Principal Planner, in the 

Community and Economic Development Department at 920-832-6466 or by email at 

don.harp@appleton.org. 

 

 

 

CITY PLAN COMMISSION  COMMUNITY & ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT   

  CITY HALL - 100 NORTH APPLETON STREET 

APPLETON, WISCONSIN 54911-4799 

920-832-6468 

 

 

 
Reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities will be made upon request and if feasible. 

mailto:don.harp@appleton.org


0-0
35

6
6-0

344

6-0
35

2

6-0
35

1

6-0
35

0

6-0
34

9

6-0302

6-02906-0
29

1

6-0
29

4

0-0270

6-0
36

1

6-0
99

6

6-0
99

5

0-0338

6-0338

6-0295

6-0362
6-0362-1

6-0883

6-0882

6-0886

6-0885

6-0884
6-0

57
6

6-0
57

5

6-0
88

7

6-0582

6-0579

6-0580

6-0581

6-0583

6-1
00

1

6-0999

6-0998

6-1
00

3

6-1
00

0

6-1
00

2

6-0
98

56-0986

6-0
98

4

6-0997

6-0983

6-0982

6-0
99

2

6-0
99

36-0990

6-0989

6-0988

6-0918

6-0
52

2

6-0
52

1

6-0
52

0

6-0523

6-0524

6-0
52

5

6-0
33

5

6-0107

6-0
33

9 6-0340

6-0342

6-03346-0336

6-0337

6-0348

6-0354

6-0347

6-0345

6-0346

6-0343

6-0353

6-0358 6-0364

6-03636-0359

6-0360

6-0304

6-0
30

1

6-0301-1
6-0289

6-0
28

5

6-0
26

7

6-0
29

3

6-0
29

2

6-0313

6-0307

6-0306

6-0305
6-0

30
3

6-0
28

6
6-0

27
9

6-0
28

0

6-0284

6-0283

6-0282 6-0277

6-0288

6-0287 6-0271

6-0270

6-0269

6-0
27

2

6-0327
6-0

33
1

6-0
33

2
6-0324

6-0323

6-0333
6-0329

6-0330

6-0298

6-0297

6-0296

6-0
29

9

6-0
30

0

6-0
30

8

6-0
32

5

11
08

13
20

.5
14

12
.5

14
01

.5
14

11
.5

14
03

.5

119113
110 118

13
25

14
11

14
07

13
21

14
12

14
00

13
24

13
20

13
16

13
12

121

13
21

13
15

14
04

124 14
03

14
09

14
01

116.5

11212
02

11
20

11
14

11
08

11
02

112

109113119

107115 115

10
08

10
16

10
20

12
02

114 120
12

03

11
02

10
12

121

12
08 12

09

126

215

13
09

200

10
09

.5
10

21
10

15
10

09

10
20

10
14

10
08

10
21

10
15

10
09

10
15

.5

11
08

.5
11

02
.5

108.5 120.5

11
09

.5
10

09
.5

10
15

.5

10
08

.5
10

16
.5

10
14

10
08

10
20

10
21

10
15

10
09

131

214

135131 133127119.5123131125

11
21

213

114

111 121

116 100122

111119

12
03

11
09

11
05

12
09

12
05

11
21

11
15

11
09

11
03

12
13

11
21

11
15

12
02

.5

11
21

.5
12

09
.5

12
08

.5

13
15

.5
13

15
13

19
13

25
14

03
14

09

13
14

-16
13

20

104 116118 120 132128

13
16

13
20

206-212

115.5

10
14

.5

11
20

.5

11
14

.5
11

08
.5

11
02

11
08

11
14

11
20

114 120108

115 121 127 131

11
20

11
14

11
09

11
03

11
15

13
16

.5

N 
ON

EID
A S

T

N A
PP

LE
TO

N 
ST

N 
MO

RR
ISO

N 
ST

E SPRING ST

E SUMMER ST

E WISCONSIN AV

W SPRING ST

E RANDALL ST

W SUMMER ST

W WISCONSIN AV

ARTIS ALLEY

E RANDALL ST

C-2

R-1C

R-2

R-1C

R-2

R-2

PD/C-O

R-2

R-2

R-2

R-2

R-1B P

R-2

PD/R-3

R-1C

R-2

R-1C

N 
DI

VI
SIO

N 
ST

E ATLANTIC STW ATLANTIC ST

E WISCONSIN AV

N 
LA

WE
 S

T

W WISCONSIN AV

N 
DR

EW
 S

T

N 
ON

EI
DA

 S
T

N 
ME

AD
E 

ST

N 
DR

EW
 S

T

N 
ON

EI
DA

 S
T

Rezoning 
1208 North Oneida Street

C-2 General Commercial District 
to R-2 Two-family District

Zoning Map

Subject Area

Subject
Area

City Plan Commission
12-14-22 ± 0 150 30075 Feet

R-1C

R-2

R-1C



6-0
35

2

6-0
99

2

6-0
99

3

6-0342

6-0334

6-0353

6-0
30

1

6-0327

6-0
33

1

6-0
33

26-0329

6-0330

6-0298

6-0297 6-0
29

9

6-0
30

0
6-0

32
5

12
02

114 120

12
08

127

114

111 121

100

111

12
03

12
09

11
21

11
15

12
02

.5

11
21

.5
12

09
.5

12
08

.5

104 116 118 120

115 121 127

11
20

11
14

N 
ON

EID
A S

T

E SUMMER ST

E WISCONSIN AV

W SUMMER ST

W WISCONSIN AV

Rezoning 
1208 North Oneida Street

C-2 General Commercial District 
to R-2 Two-family District

Aerial Map

City Plan Commission
12-14-22± 0 100 20050 Feet

Subject Area





NOTICE OF INFORMAL PUBLIC HEARING 

 

OF THE 

 

APPLETON CITY PLAN COMMISSION 

 
Dear property owner(s): 
 

The City of Appleton Plan Commission will conduct an Informal Public Hearing on Wednesday, December 14, 

2022, at 3:30 P.M., in Common Council Chambers, 6th Floor, City Hall, 100 North Appleton Street, or as soon 
thereafter as can be heard, for the purpose of considering the following proposed Street Vacation (discontinuance of 

a portion of public street right-of-way). 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF AREA TO BE VACATED: 

A part of Oneida Street abutting the West side of Block Sixty-Eight (68) of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second 

Ward Plat), all according to the recorded Assessor’s Map of the City of Appleton, being located in the Southeast 

Quarter (SE ¼) of the Northwest Quarter (NW ¼), Section 26, Township 21 North, Range 17 East, City of 
Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin, containing 1,361 square feet of land and being further described by: 

Commencing at the Northeast corner of Pacific Street and Oneida Street, said point also being the Southwest corner 

of Block 68 of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward Plat) and being the point of beginning; 

Thence South 89°55'06" West 5.70 feet along the Westerly extension of the North line of Pacific Street; 
Thence Northwesterly 4.73 feet along the arc of a curve to the right having a radius of 4.00 feet and the chord of 

which bears North 56°12'19" West 4.46 feet; 

Thence Northwesterly 27.81 feet along the arc of a curve to the left having a radius of 108.00 feet and the chord of 
which bears North 29°42'19" West 27.73 feet; 

Thence Northerly 12.65 feet along the arc of a curve to the right having a radius of 11.00 feet and the chord of 

which bears North 04°08'10" West 11.96 feet; 
Thence Northerly 70.91 feet along the arc of a curve to the left having a radius of 228.50 feet and the chord of 

which bears North 19°55'06" East 70.63 feet to the East line of Oneida Street; 

Thence South 00°01'51" West 104.90 feet along the East line of Oneida Street and being coincident with the West 

line of said Block 68 to the point of beginning. 
AND 

A part of Pacific Street abutting the North side of Block Fifty-Nine (59) of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second 

Ward Plat), all according to the recorded Assessor’s Map of the City of Appleton, being located in the Southeast 
Quarter (SE ¼) of the Northwest Quarter (NW ¼), Section 26, Township 21 North, Range 17 East, City of 

Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin, containing 1,832 square feet of land and being further described by: 

Commencing at the Southwest corner of Pacific Street and Oneida Street, said point also being the Northeast corner 
of Block 59 of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward Plat) and being the point of beginning; 

Thence South 89°55'06" West 111.86 feet along the South line of Pacific Street and being coincident with the North 

line of said Block 59; 

Thence Easterly 102.16 feet along the arc of a curve to the left having a radius of 182.00 feet and the chord of 
which bears North 69°14'08" East 100.82 feet; 

Thence Southeasterly 24.35 feet along the arc of a curve to the right having a radius of 11.00 feet and the chord of 

which bears South 63°25'02" East 19.68 feet to the Northerly extension of the West line of Oneida Street; 
Thence South 00°00'36" West 26.78 feet coincident with the Northerly extension of the West line of Oneida Street 

to the point of beginning. 

AND 

A part of Pacific Street and Appleton Street, also being formerly known as a part of Lot Twelve (12), Thirteen (13) 
and Fourteen (14) of Block Fifty-Nine (59) of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward Plat), all according to the 

recorded Assessor’s Map of the City of Appleton, being located in the Southeast Quarter (SE ¼) of the Northwest 

Quarter (NW ¼), Section 26, Township 21 North, Range 17 East, City of Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin, 
containing 445 square feet of land and being further described by: 

Commencing at the Northwest corner of Block 59 of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward Plat); 

Thence South 00°02'57" East 115.69 feet coincident with the West line of said Block 59 to the point of beginning; 
Thence North 00°02'57" West 0.33 feet coincident with the West line of said Block 59; 



Thence Northeasterly 117.59 feet along the arc of a curve to the right having a radius of 90.00 feet and the chord of 
which bears North 37°22'50" East 109.40 feet to the existing Southeasterly line of Pacific Street per A.O.D. 

Document No.778217; 

Thence South 51°15'47" West 71.53 feet (recorded as North 50°27'24" East 71.53 feet) coincident with Southeast 

line of Pacific Street per A.O.D. Document No.778217; 
Thence South 14°01'58" West 43.81 feet (recorded as North 12°57'24" East 43.81 feet) coincident with Southeast 

line of Pacific Street and the East line of Appleton Street per A.O.D. Document No.779003 to the West line of 

Block 59 and the point of beginning. 
AND 

A part of Pacific Street and Appleton Street abutting the South side of Block Sixty-Seven (67) of the APPLETON 

PLAT (aka Second Ward Plat), all according to the recorded Assessor’s Map of the City of Appleton, being located 
in the Southeast Quarter (SE ¼) of the Northwest Quarter (NW ¼), Section 26, Township 21 North, Range 17 East, 

City of Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin, containing 3,843 square feet of land and being further described 

by: 

Commencing at the Northeast corner of Pacific Street and Appleton Street, said point also being the Southwest 
corner of Block 67 of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward Plat) and being the point of beginning; 

Thence North 89°55'06" East 165.28 feet along the North line of Pacific Street and being coincident with the South 

line of said Block 67; 
Thence South 74°55'40" West 117.97 feet; 

Thence Southwesterly 57.49 feet along the arc of a curve to the left having a radius of 150.00 feet and the chord of 

which bears South 63°56'53" West 57.14 feet to the Southerly extension of the West line of Block 67; 
Thence North 00°02'19" West 55.54 feet coincident with the Southerly extension of the West line of Block 67 to 

the point of beginning. 

AND 

A part of Pacific Street and Oneida Street also being formerly known as a part of Lot Seven (7) and Lot Eight (8) of 
Block Sixty-Seven (67) of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward Plat), all according to the recorded Assessor’s 

Map of the City of Appleton, being located in the Southeast Quarter (SE ¼) of the Northwest Quarter (NW ¼), 

Section 26, Township 21 North, Range 17 East, City of Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin, containing 1,433 
square feet of land and being further described by: 

Commencing at the Northeast corner of Pacific Street and Appleton Street, said point also being the Southwest 

corner of Block 67 of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward Plat);  

Thence North 89°55'06" East 166.83 feet along the North line of Pacific Street and being coincident with the South 
line of said Block 67 to the Southwest corner of Lot 7 of said Block 67 and being the point of beginning; 

Thence North 51°30'19" East 128.76 feet (recorded as North 50°26'53" East 128.73 feet) to a point on the North 

line of said Lot 7 being 16.99 feet West of the Northeast corner thereof; 
Thence North 13°33'47" East 72.61 feet (recorded as North 14°40'01" East 72.61 feet) to a point on the West line of 

Oneida Street (as platted) said point being 150.56 feet (recorded as 150.56 feet) North of the Southeast corner of 

said Block 67; 
Thence Southwesterly 202.92 feet along the arc of a curve to the right having a radius of 155.00 feet and the chord 

of which bears South 37°25'22" West 188.74 feet; 

Thence South 74°55'40" West 3.22 feet to the point of beginning. 

 
See also attached Exhibit “A” for illustration. 

 

COMMON DESCRIPTION:  Portions of Appleton Street, Pacific Street, and Oneida Street, generally located 
north of Packard Street and south of Atlantic Street. 

 

ALDERMANIC DISTRICT:  1 – Alderperson William Siebers 
 

PARTIAL STREET VACATION REQUEST: 

A Street Vacation request has been initiated by the applicant, City of Appleton.  The applicant requests to vacate 

and discontinue portions of Appleton Street, Pacific Street, and Oneida Street.  The area being vacated is no longer 
needed for public street purposes.  The adjoining property owner(s) will acquire ownership to the afore-described 

and vacated portions of Appleton Street, Pacific Street, and Oneida Street right-of-way, as shown on the attached 

maps. 
 



ZONING DISTRICT BOUNDARIES: 

Per Section 23-39 of the Municipal Code, zoning district boundaries indicated as approximately following the 

centerlines of streets shall be construed to follow such centerlines.  In this case, the centerlines will change due to 

the proposed street vacation.  Therefore, it is the intent of the City of Appleton that existing zoning district 

boundaries located in the public right-of-way will be amended accordingly.  The public right-of-way at the 
intersection of Appleton Street and Pacific Street, from PD/R-3 Planned Development Multi-Family District to R-

1C Central City Residential District.  The public right-of-way at the intersection of Oneida Street and Pacific Street, 

from R-1C Central City Residential District to PD/R-3 Planned Development Multi-Family District.  The public 
right-of-way at the intersection of Oneida Street and Pacific Street, from R-1C Central City Residential District to 

C-2 General Commercial District. 

 
Proposed changes to the zoning district boundaries would occur in the public right-of-way only.  Nearby privately-

owned parcels are not involved in the proposed zoning changes. 

 

See also attached Exhibit “B” for illustration. 
 

PURPOSE OF NOTIFICATION: 

You are being notified as a policy of the City of Appleton Community and Economic Development Department.  
All person interested are invited to attend this meeting and will be given an opportunity to be heard.  Feedback can 

also be shared with Plan Commission members via written letter, email, or phone call.  The Plan Commission 

makes a recommendation to the Common Council who makes the final decision on the matter. 
 

Any questions regarding this matter should be directed to David Kress, Principal Planner, in the Community and 

Economic Development Department at 920-832-6428 or by email at david.kress@appleton.org. 

 
 

CITY PLAN COMMISSION                  COMMUNITY & ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

                      CITY HALL – 100 NORTH APPLETON STREET                                                               
      APPLETON, WISCONSIN 54911 

                                                            920-832-6468 

 

 
Reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities will be made upon request and if feasible. 

mailto:david.kress@appleton.org


N89°55'06"E                                 166.83'

N51°30'19"E     
     

  128.76'

(N50°26'53"E   1
28.73')PHILLIP & CLAIREREHBERGER31-2-0739-00114 W. PACIFIC STREETLOT 6, BLK.67, 2ND WARDPLAT

TIM & PAMELA MORAN120 W. PACIFIC STREET31-2-0738-00S.50', LOT 5, BLK.67, 2ND WARD PLAT

MICHAEL & CHRISTINE MORAN615 N. ONEIDA STREET31-2-0741-00LOT 7 AND 8, BLK.67, 2NDWARD PLAT31-2-0741-00

APPLETON HOUSING AUTHORITY
525 N. ONEIDA STREET31-2-0604-00PRT., BLK.59, VACATED ALLEY,2ND WARD PLAT

N1
3°

33
'4

7"
E 

 7
2.

61
'

(N
14

°4
0'

01
"E

  7
2.

61
')

TRENTIN-LEDERERFUNERAL HOME606 N. ONEIDA STREETLOT 3, W 1
2 LOT 2, BLK.68,2ND WARD PLAT31-2-0748-00

C2

C4

C6

C5

C8

S0
0°

01
'5

1"
W

   
   

   
  1

04
.9

0'

60
' R

/W

S89°55'06"W5.70'

AP
PL

ET
O

N
ST

R
EE

T

PACIFIC                 
STREET

S74°55'40"W                   
  117.97'

S74°55'40"W                   
  110.26'

(N73°52'17"E   110.26')

S51°15'47"W     
71.53'

(N50°27'24"E   7
1.53')

S89°55'06"W           111.86'

S00°00'36"W26.78'

60'

60'

VARIABLE

WIDTH

R/W

VA
RI

AB
LE

W
ID

TH
R/

W

O
N

EI
D

A
ST

R
EE

T

PACIFIC
STREET

15
0.

56
' (

15
0.

56
')

117.72' (117.84')

59.94' (60.00')

106.89' (107')

N89°55'06"E                165.28'

S74°55'40"W3.22'

C9

A

VA
C

AT
ED

AL
LE

Y

LOT 1, BLK. 59

LOT 15, BLK. 59

LOT 14, BLK. 59

LOT 3, BLK. 68

LOT 4, BLK. 68

16.99'(16.99')

60' R/W

PACIFIC
STREET

60' R/W

VACATION  AREA

VACATIONAREA

VACATIONAREA

N
00

°0
2'

19
"W

  5
5.

54
'

S1
4°

01
'5

8"
W

 4
3.

81
'

(N
12

°5
7'

24
"E

   
43

.8
1'

)

VACATION  AREA

C7

11
5.

69
' (

11
5.

69
')

S0
0°

02
'5

7E
 (S

01
°0

7'
43

"E
)

LOT 13, BLK. 59

LOT 12, BLK. 59

60'

N00°02'57"W0.33'

C3

C1

40'0' 80'

BEARINGS ARE REFERENCED TO
THE NORTH LINE OF PACIFIC
STREET(AS PLATTED), ASSIGNED
N89°55'06E

CITY OF APPLETON
DEPT. OF PUBLIC WORKS
ENGINEERING DIVISION
100 NORTH APPLETON STREET
APPLETON, WI 54911
920-832-6474
DRAFTED BY: T. KROMM
H:\Acad\Vac and Ded\2022\Pacific Street_1101_2022

SCALE IN FEET

N

S

W
E

EXHIBIT  "A"
A part of Appleton Street, Pacific Street and Oneida Street lying between Block Fifty-Nine (59), Sixty-Seven (67) and
Sixty-eight (68), of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward Plat), all according to the recorded Assessor's Map of the City of
Appleton, being located in the Southeast 1 4 of the Northwest 1 4  of Section 26, Township 21 North, Range 17 East, City of
Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin.
And
a portion of previously acquired for right of way, being a part of Lot Seven (7) and Eight (8) of Block Sixty-Seven (67) and a
part of Lot Twelve (12), Thirteen (13) and Fourteen (14) of Block Fifty-Nine (59), of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward
Plat), all according to the recorded Assessor's Map of the City of Appleton, being located in the Southeast 1 4 of the
Northwest 1 4  of Section 26, Township 21 North, Range 17 East, City of Appleton,
Outagamie County, Wisconsin.

NOTES
A = EXISTING LOT LINE SHALL BE EXTENDED TO
ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE PROPOSED NW'LY
LINE OF PACIFIC STREET.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURVE DATA TABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RADIUS

AutoCAD SHX Text
LENGTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
LC

AutoCAD SHX Text
LCB

AutoCAD SHX Text
C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.73'

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.46'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N56°12'19"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C2

AutoCAD SHX Text
108.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
27.81'

AutoCAD SHX Text
27.73'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N29°42'19"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C3

AutoCAD SHX Text
11.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
12.65'

AutoCAD SHX Text
11.96'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N04°08'10"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C4

AutoCAD SHX Text
228.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
70.91'

AutoCAD SHX Text
70.63'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N19°55'06"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C5

AutoCAD SHX Text
182.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
102.16'

AutoCAD SHX Text
100.82'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N69°14'08"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C6

AutoCAD SHX Text
11.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
24.35'

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.68'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S63°25'02"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C7

AutoCAD SHX Text
90.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
117.59'

AutoCAD SHX Text
109.40'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N37°22'50"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C8

AutoCAD SHX Text
150.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
57.49'

AutoCAD SHX Text
57.14'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S63°56'53'W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C9

AutoCAD SHX Text
155.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
202.92'

AutoCAD SHX Text
188.74'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S37°25'22"W



APPROX. NEW CENTERLINE 

 
FROM PD/R-3 TO R-1C 

 
FROM R-1C TO PD/R-3 

 
FROM R-1C TO C-2 

ZONING CHANGES 

EXHIBIT “B” 



2-0732

2-0735
2-0736

2-0
73

9

2-0727

2-0741

0-0604

2-0738
2-0

72
8

2-0
72

92-0
73

1

2-0719

2-0718

2-0717

2-0715

2-0714

2-0620

2-0619 2-0604

2-0602

6-0
17

5
6-0163

2-0750

2-0749

2-0748

6-0228

6-0
22

7

6-0226 6-0
21

6

2-0734
2-0733

2-0720

2-0616
2-06170-0617

114120

116124 106

52
5

53
2

54
0

60
6

61
5

61
4

70
5

62
1 62

0
70

2

208

70
5

54
5.5

54
3.5

53
7.5

53
1.5

209.5209

54
5

54
3

53
1

53
7

208

62
3

61
9

61
7

61
7.5

61
5

60
9

60
3

60
6

61
0

62
2

61
8

61
4

61
4.5

61
8.5

121.5
113117121

Subject
Areas

Subject
Areas

N 
ON

EID
A S

T

N A
PP

LE
TO

N 
ST

W ATLANTIC ST

W PACIFIC ST

E ATLANTIC ST

W PACIFIC ST

Appleton Street, Pacific Street, and Oneida Street
Partial Street Vacation

Aerial Map

City Plan Commission
12-14-2022

± 0 50 10025 Feet



1 | P a g e  

 

 

NOTICE OF INFORMAL PUBLIC HEARING 

 

OF THE 

 

APPLETON CITY PLAN COMMISSION 

 

 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN of an Informal Public Hearing to be held before the City Plan 

Commission in Common Council Chambers, 6th Floor, City Hall, 100 North Appleton Street, on 

Wednesday, December 14, 2022 at 3:30 P.M., or as soon thereafter as can be heard, for the purpose 

of amending Article X of Chapter 23 of the Municipal Code relating to Floodplain Zoning that is 

required by state and federal law.   

 

The City of Appleton is considering amending Article X. Floodplain Zoning 

Division 1. Statutory Authorization, Finding of Fact, Statement of Purpose, 

Title and General Provisions. Sec. 23-205 (b) (2) Official maps based on 

other studies related to LOMR – Case #21-05-2374P.    

 

All persons interested are invited to attend this meeting and will be given an opportunity to be 

heard. You may also address the Plan Commission by letter at the address below.  The Plan 

Commission makes a recommendation to the Common Council who makes the final decision on 

the matter. 

 

A copy of the proposed map amendment and text amendment to Chapter 23 of the Zoning 

Ordinance is available in the Appleton Community and Economic Development Department or 

the Office of the City Clerk from 8:00 a.m. until 4:30 p.m., Monday through Friday. 

 

A copy of the proposed Floodplain Zoning Ordinance amendment materials are available by 

contacting Pete Neuberger, P.E., Project Engineer in the Department of Public Works at 920-832-

6474 or by email at peter.neuberger@appleton.org or by contacting Don Harp, Principal Planner 

in the Community and Economic Development Department at 920-832-6466 or by email at 

don.harp@appleton.org. 

 

 

 

 
CITY PLAN COMMISSION   COMMUNITY AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

APPLETON, WISCONSIN   DEPARTMENT  

      CITY HALL - 100 NORTH APPLETON STREET 

APPLETON, WISCONSIN 54911-4799  

(920) 832-6468 

 

 
Reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities will be made upon request and if feasible 

 

 

mailto:peter.neuberger@appleton.org
mailto:don.harp@appleton.org


2 | P a g e  

 

 

PROPOSED ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENTS 

 

The text recommended to be added is underlined. The text recommended to be deleted is 

strikethrough.  

 

ARTICLE X.  FLOODPLAIN ZONING 

 

DIVISION 1. STATUTORY AUTHORIZATION, FINDING OF FACT, STATEMENT OF 

PURPOSE, TITLE AND GENERAL PROVISIONS. 

 
 

Sec. 23-205. General provisions. 

 

(b) Official maps and revisions. The boundaries of all floodplain districts are designated as A, AE, AH, AO or A1-

30 on the maps based on the Flood Insurance Study (FIS) listed below.  Any change to the base flood elevations (BFE) 

or any changes to the boundaries of the floodplain or floodway in the FIS or on the Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) 

must be reviewed and approved by the DNR and FEMA through the Letter of Map Change process (see Division 8 

Amendments) before it is effective.  No changes to RFE's on non-FEMA maps shall be effective until approved by the 

DNR.  These maps and revisions are on file in the office of the Department of Public Works, City of Appleton.  If 

more than one map or revision is referenced, the most restrictive information shall apply.   

 

 

  (2) Official maps based on other studies.  Any maps referenced in this section must be approved by the 

DNR and be more restrictive than those based on the FIS at the site of the proposed development. 

 

   a. LOMR – Case #11-05-7670P, Floodway and Floodplain revisions between Flood Insurance Study 

(FIS) Cross Section AW to BA, Outagamie County Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) panels 

55087C0318D and 55087C0319D, dated July 22, 2010. This reflects changes on the Fox River from 

just downstream of the Private Middle Dam to approximately 250 feet upstream of the Appleton 

Upper Dam. 

 

   b. LOMR – Case #13-05-7920P, Floodplain revisions between Flood Insurance Study (FIS) Cross 

Section AN to AM, Outagamie County Flood Insurance Rate panels 55087C0319D, dated July 22, 

2010. This reflects changes along the south side of the Fox River from the College Avenue Bridge 

to approximately 850 feet downstream. 

 

   c. LOMR – Case #17-05-1963P. Floodplain revisions on Outagamie County Flood Insurance Study 

(FIS) AAL Tributary Cross Section C, Outagamie County Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) panel 

55087C0336D, effective September 29, 2017. This reflects changes along the AAL Tributary from 

just downstream of Lightning Drive to approximately 200 feet upstream of East Glenhurst Lane. 

 

   d. LOMR – Case #17-05-3854P. Floodplain revisions to Outagamie County Flood Insurance Study 

(FIS) Fox River Cross Section AS through AW, Outagamie County Flood Insurance Rate Map 

(FIRM) panel 55087C0319D, effective February 16, 2018. This reflects changes along the Fox 

River from just upstream of railroad to just downstream of South Oneida Street. 

 

   e. LOMR – Case #20-05-2300P. Floodplain revisions to Outagamie County Flood Insurance Study 

(FIS) Apple Creek North Cross Section H through J, Outagamie County Flood Insurance Rate Map 

(FIRM) panel 55087C0328D, effective July 22, 2010. This reflects changes along Apple Creek 

North from approximately 1,440 feet downstream of Harrier Lance to approximately 160 feet 

downstream of Ballard Road. 

 



3 | P a g e  

 

   f.  LOMR – Case #21-05-2374P. Floodplain revisions to Outagamie County Flood Insurance Study 

(FIS) Apple Creek Northeast Cross Section H through I, Outagamie County Flood Insurance Rate 

Map (FIRM) panel 55087C0328D, effective January 27, 2023. This reflects changes along Apple 

Creek Northeast from approximately 700 feet downstream of Rubyred Drive to approximately 350 

feet downstream of French Road. 

 

  f. g. CLOMR – Case #21-05-3029R. Floodplain revisions to Outagamie County Flood Insurance Study 

(FIS) AAL Tributary from just upstream of East Glenhurst Lane to approximately 500 feet upstream 

of Everbreeze Circle, Outagamie County Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) panel 55087C0336D, 

effective November 1, 2021. 

 

   g. h. Kensington Pond Dam Failure analysis approved by the Department of Natural Resources on 

January 7, 2008, including: 

 

    1. Map dated July 2007 and titled “Figure 2, City of Appleton, Kensington Pond Dam Break 

Analysis, Hydraulic Shadow” (Hydraulic Shadow boundary from Cross Section 0.001 to 4.84). 

 

    2. Floodway data table dated 8/28/2007 and titled “Table F-10, Maximum Water Surface 

Elevations, Kensington Pond Dam Break Analysis, City of Appleton”. 

 

    3. Flood profiles dated 7/10/2007 and titled “Figure 3, Maximum Water Surface Profiles” 

(Hydraulic Shadow profile from Garners Creek Sta 0 to Sta 25000). Revisions made as a result 

of DNR review and received from Pete Neuberger via email 2/23/2021. 

 

   g. i. Outagamie County Flood Storage District Map Panel 1 of 2 approved by Wisconsin Department of 

Natural Resources and dated January 20, 2016. Prepared by DNR, approved by DNR. 

 

 

 

 
 



 

 

 

 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION___________________________________________________  _ 

Owner:  Little Angel Child Care, Inc. 

 

Applicant:  Jim Fletcher, RE/MAX 24/7 Commercial Real Estate c/o Reed Asset Management, LLC 

 

Address/Parcel:  1208 North Oneida Street (Tax Id #31-6-0329-00) 

 

Petitioner’s Request:  “The property is an older house currently set up with a kitchen, bath, 2 bedrooms 

and living area on the first floor and 2nd floor.  We request rezoning back to R-2 in order to make repairs 

and renovate the property to a modern, affordable rent, 2 unit property.  The property accommodates 

parking for 2 units and we feel this would have a positive economical impact for the city.” 

 

BACKGROUND  ___________________________________________________  _ 

The building was originally constructed as an upper/lower two-family dwelling in 1898 per City Assessor 

records.   

 

Rezoning #25-85 was approved by the Common Council on August 2, 1985 to rezone the property from 

C-3 Wisconsin Avenue District to C-2 General Commercial District.  The purpose of the rezoning was to 

allow the first floor dwelling unit to be converted into a retail space.  Subsequently, the second floor 

apartment continued to be rented, but no City permits were applied for to convert the first floor dwelling 

unit into a retail space.  

 

Building Permit B89-#0753 was approved by the Inspection Division on August 1, 1989 to allow the first 

floor dwelling unit to be remodeled and used as a commercial day care facility “Little Angel Child Care”.  

The second floor apartment continued to be occupied.  Pursuant to the C-2 zoning district standards, the 

commercial day care facility was considered the principal use of the property, and the second floor 

dwelling unit was considered an accessory use of the property.  

 

Little Angel Child Care was licensed and certified by the Wisconsin Department of Health Services 

Department (2003 data) to provide child care services up to 16 children per license number 1006495 for 

Little Angel Child Care Inc.  This child day care facility is not currently in operation. 

 

The applicant proposes to change the 1st floor commercial space back to a residential dwelling unit, while 

maintaining the 2nd floor dwelling unit.  The applicant applied for variances in anticipation of submitting 

this rezoning request.  The Board of Zoning Appeals approved variances for the front yard setback and 

REPORT TO CITY PLAN COMMISSION 

Plan Commission Informal Hearing Meeting Date:  December 14, 2022 

Common Council Public Hearing Meeting Date:  January 18, 2023  

Item:  Rezoning #5-22 – 1208 North Oneida Street from C-2 General 

Commercial District to R-2 Two-family District 

Case Manager:  Don Harp, Principal Planner 

Community and 

Economic 

Development 



Rezoning #5-22 

December 14, 2022 

Page 2 

 

minimum lot width standards listed in the R-2 Two-family District on October 17, 2022.  The variances 

were needed in order for the building and lot width to comply with the R-2 Two-family District minimum 

development standards as stated in Section 23-95(g)(1)f. and g. of the Zoning Ordinance.   

 

STAFF ANALYSIS____________________________________________________________  _ 

Existing Site Conditions:  Currently, the parcel is developed with a two-story building, detached garage 

and a paved driveway used for off-street parking.  

 

Surrounding Zoning Classification and Land Uses:  A variety of uses can be found in this area of the 

City, including retail, restaurant and service type business, and residential (single/two family) uses.  

    

North:  C-2 General Commercial District.  The adjacent land use to the north is currently a restaurant.  

 

South: R-2 Two-Family District.  The adjacent land use to the south is currently an upper/lower two-

family dwelling.  

 

East:  R-1C Central City Residential District.  The adjacent land use to the east is currently single-family 

residential. 

 

West:  R-2 Two-Family District.  The adjacent land use to the west is currently an upper/lower two-family 

dwelling. 

 

Proposed Zoning Classification:  The R-2 District is intended to provide for and maintain residential 

areas characterized by single-family detached and two-family dwelling units.  Increased densities and the 

introduction of two-family housing types are intended to provide for greater housing options for owners 

and renters while maintaining the basic qualities of a moderately dense residential neighborhood.  The 

development standards for the R-2 District are listed below: 

 

1) Minimum lot area:  7,000 square feet (two-story duplex).  

2) Maximum lot coverage:  60%. 

3) Minimum lot width:  70 feet. *Variance approved, 60.11 feet. 

4) Minimum front yard:  20 feet. *Variance approved, 18.7 feet.  

5) Minimum rear yard:  25 feet.  

6) Minimum side yard: 6 feet.  

7) Maximum building height:  35 feet. 

 

Zoning Ordinance Review Criteria:  A rezoning is often triggered by development proposals or 

changing circumstances in the City.  In this case, the request is being made to allow the applicant to 

change the use from 1st floor commercial to a residential dwelling unit.  As a result, the building would be 

classified as an upper/lower two-family dwelling unit after all applicable municipal codes have been 

satisfied.  If the rezoning request is approved, the R-2 District zoning regulations, variance approvals and 

other applicable sections of the Zoning Ordinance would apply to the subject site.    

 



Rezoning #5-22 

December 14, 2022 

Page 3 

 

Appleton Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030:  The City of Appleton 2010-2030 Comprehensive Future 

Land Use Map identifies the subject site and block as future mixed use. The proposed rezoning is 

consistent with the following goals and objectives of the Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030 and the 

residential mixed-use designation pursuant to Chapter 15 Wisconsin Avenue Corridor Plan.   

 

Goal 1 – Community Growth 

Appleton will continue to provide opportunities for residential, commercial, and industrial growth, 

including appropriate redevelopment sites within the downtown and existing neighborhoods, and 

greenfield development sites at the City's edge. 

 

Goal 3 – Housing Quality, Variety, and Affordability 

Appleton will provide a variety of rental and ownership housing choices in a range of prices affordable to 

community residents, and ensure that existing housing is adequately maintained in terms of physical 

quality and market viability. 

 

OBJECTIVE 5.1: Continue efforts to ensure an adequate supply of housing affordable to all income levels 

in the community. 

OBJECTIVE 5.3 Housing and Neighborhoods: 

Provide a range of housing options that meet the needs and appeal to all segments of the community and 

allows residents to age in place. 

Policy 5.3.3  Plan for a supply of developable land suitable for residential development. 

 

OBJECTIVE 10.1 Land Use:  

Provide an adequate supply of suitable land meeting the demand for development of various land uses. 

 

OBJECTIVE 10.4 Land Use: 

Plan for compact, efficient, and fiscally responsible growth of residential, commercial, and industrial 

development in new neighborhoods in order to implement the principles of smart growth. 

Policy 10.4.1  Continue to guide residential growth to locations either contiguous to or within 

presently urbanized areas.  As peripheral development occurs, it should be at a compact, urban 

density to ensure new neighborhoods can be efficiently served by public infrastructure. 

 

Chapter 15: Wisconsin Avenue Corridor Plan: 

Residential Mixed-Use - As with the pedestrian-oriented commercial category, areas identified for 

residential mixed-se may contain both commercial and residential uses. Here, however, residential uses 

should dominate. Buildings may be entirely residential, or incorporate a lesser area of commercial space. 

The intent of this district is to help to concentrate commercial activity into other areas, where it may 

cluster and create beneficial relationships between neighboring businesses. The area designated as 

residential mixed-use is thought to include parts of the Wisconsin Avenue corridor where the demand for 

commercial space is not very strong. High-density residential uses in these areas can offer property 

owners the opportunity to profitably redevelop their land and create additional households to support 

commercial businesses in the corridor. 

 

College North Neighborhood Plan – Chapter 4: Market Study 2020-2030: The average annual 

housing need is about 301 units per the market study.  The change of use from 1st floor commercial to a 



Rezoning #5-22 

December 14, 2022 

Page 4 

 

residential dwelling unit helps to meet the demand for housing in Appleton as specified in the market 

study.  

 

Standards for Zoning Map Amendments:  Per Section 23-65(d)(3) of the Municipal Code, all 

recommendations for Official Zoning Map amendments shall be consistent with the adopted plans, goals, 

and policies of the City and with the intent of the Zoning Ordinance.  Related excerpts are listed below. 

 

a. Prior to making a recommendation on a proposed rezoning, the Plan Commission shall make a 

finding to determine if the following conditions exist.  No rezoning of land shall be approved prior 

to finding at least one of the following: 

 

1. The request for a zone change is in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan for the City of 

Appleton.  The rezoning request is in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030 

goals and objectives stated above and Chapter 15 Wisconsin Avenue Corridor Plan which 

identifies this area for residential mixed-use. 

 

2. A study submitted by the applicant that indicates that there has been an increase in the demand 

for land in the requested zoning district, and as a result, the supply of land within the City 

mapped as such on the Official Zoning Map is inadequate to meet the demands for such 

development.  The City of Appleton’s College North Neighborhood Plan – Chapter 4: Market 

Study 2020-2030 indicates an average of 301 housing units is needed annually.   

 

3. Proposed amendments cannot be accommodated by sites already zoned in the City due to lack 

of transportation, utilities or other development constraints, or the market to be served by the 

proposed use cannot be effectively served by the location of the existing zoning district(s). 

 

4. There is an error in the code text or zoning map as enacted. 

 

b. In addition to the findings required to be made by subsection (a), findings shall be made by the 

Plan Commission on each of the following matters based on the evidence presented: 

 

1. The adequacy of public facilities such as transportation, utilities and other required public 

services to serve the proposed site.  The subject area is served by existing infrastructure, and 

the transportation network should be able to accommodate the proposed rezoning. 

 

2. The effect of the proposed rezoning on surrounding uses.  A variety of uses can be found in the 

area of the City, including retail, restaurant and service business, and residential (single/two 

family) uses. The proposed rezoning would allow the owner to obtain the necessary building 

permits to change the use of the 1st floor from a day care facility to a residential dwelling unit 

and will allow the building to be classified as an upper/lower two-family dwelling unit.  

Therefore, the proposed rezoning request is unlikely to create adverse impacts in the 

surrounding neighborhood. 

 

Review Criteria:  Based upon the above analysis, it would appear the criteria established by Section 23-

65(d)(3) Zoning Amendments has been satisfied. 

 

 



Rezoning #5-22 

December 14, 2022 

Page 5 

 

 

Technical Review Group (TRG) Report:  This item appeared on the November 22, 2022 TRG agenda.  

No negative comments were received from participating departments. 

 

RECOMMENDATION________________________________________________________  _ 

Staff recommends, based upon the standards for zoning map amendments as required by Section 23-

65(d)(3) of the Zoning Ordinance, that Rezoning Application #5-22 to rezone the subject parcel located at 

1208 North Oneida Street (Tax Id #31-6-0329-00) from C-2 General Commercial District to R-2 Two-

family District, including the adjacent one-half (1/2) right-of-way of North Oneida Street, as shown on the 

attached map, BE APPROVED. 

 



6-0
35

2

6-0
99

2

6-0
99

3

6-0342

6-0334

6-0353

6-0
30

1

6-0327

6-0
33

1

6-0
33

26-0329

6-0330

6-0298

6-0297 6-0
29

9

6-0
30

0
6-0

32
5

12
02

114 120

12
08

127

114

111 121

100

111

12
03

12
09

11
21

11
15

12
02

.5

11
21

.5
12

09
.5

12
08

.5

104 116 118 120

115 121 127

11
20

11
14

N 
ON

EID
A S

T

E SUMMER ST

E WISCONSIN AV

W SUMMER ST

W WISCONSIN AV

Rezoning 
1208 North Oneida Street

C-2 General Commercial District 
to R-2 Two-family District

Aerial Map

City Plan Commission
12-14-22± 0 100 20050 Feet

Subject Area



0-0
35

6
6-0

344

6-0
35

2

6-0
35

1

6-0
35

0

6-0
34

9

6-0302

6-02906-0
29

1

6-0
29

4

0-0270

6-0
36

1

6-0
99

6

6-0
99

5

0-0338

6-0338

6-0295

6-0362
6-0362-1

6-0883

6-0882

6-0886

6-0885

6-0884
6-0

57
6

6-0
57

5

6-0
88

7

6-0582

6-0579

6-0580

6-0581

6-0583

6-1
00

1

6-0999

6-0998

6-1
00

3

6-1
00

0

6-1
00

2

6-0
98

56-0986

6-0
98

4

6-0997

6-0983

6-0982

6-0
99

2

6-0
99

36-0990

6-0989

6-0988

6-0918

6-0
52

2

6-0
52

1

6-0
52

0

6-0523

6-0524

6-0
52

5

6-0
33

5

6-0107

6-0
33

9 6-0340

6-0342

6-03346-0336

6-0337

6-0348

6-0354

6-0347

6-0345

6-0346

6-0343

6-0353

6-0358 6-0364

6-03636-0359

6-0360

6-0304

6-0
30

1

6-0301-1
6-0289

6-0
28

5

6-0
26

7

6-0
29

3

6-0
29

2

6-0313

6-0307

6-0306

6-0305
6-0

30
3

6-0
28

6
6-0

27
9

6-0
28

0

6-0284

6-0283

6-0282 6-0277

6-0288

6-0287 6-0271

6-0270

6-0269

6-0
27

2

6-0327
6-0

33
1

6-0
33

2
6-0324

6-0323

6-0333
6-0329

6-0330

6-0298

6-0297

6-0296

6-0
29

9

6-0
30

0

6-0
30

8

6-0
32

5

11
08

13
20

.5
14

12
.5

14
01

.5
14

11
.5

14
03

.5

119113
110 118

13
25

14
11

14
07

13
21

14
12

14
00

13
24

13
20

13
16

13
12

121

13
21

13
15

14
04

124 14
03

14
09

14
01

116.5

11212
02

11
20

11
14

11
08

11
02

112

109113119

107115 115

10
08

10
16

10
20

12
02

114 120
12

03

11
02

10
12

121

12
08 12

09

126

215

13
09

200

10
09

.5
10

21
10

15
10

09

10
20

10
14

10
08

10
21

10
15

10
09

10
15

.5

11
08

.5
11

02
.5

108.5 120.5

11
09

.5
10

09
.5

10
15

.5

10
08

.5
10

16
.5

10
14

10
08

10
20

10
21

10
15

10
09

131

214

135131 133127119.5123131125

11
21

213

114

111 121

116 100122

111119

12
03

11
09

11
05

12
09

12
05

11
21

11
15

11
09

11
03

12
13

11
21

11
15

12
02

.5

11
21

.5
12

09
.5

12
08

.5

13
15

.5
13

15
13

19
13

25
14

03
14

09

13
14

-16
13

20

104 116118 120 132128

13
16

13
20

206-212

115.5

10
14

.5

11
20

.5

11
14

.5
11

08
.5

11
02

11
08

11
14

11
20

114 120108

115 121 127 131

11
20

11
14

11
09

11
03

11
15

13
16

.5

N 
ON

EID
A S

T

N A
PP

LE
TO

N 
ST

N 
MO

RR
ISO

N 
ST

E SPRING ST

E SUMMER ST

E WISCONSIN AV

W SPRING ST

E RANDALL ST

W SUMMER ST

W WISCONSIN AV

ARTIS ALLEY

E RANDALL ST

C-2

R-1C

R-2

R-1C

R-2

R-2

PD/C-O

R-2

R-2

R-2

R-2

R-1B P

R-2

PD/R-3

R-1C

R-2

R-1C

N 
DI

VI
SIO

N 
ST

E ATLANTIC STW ATLANTIC ST

E WISCONSIN AV

N 
LA

WE
 S

T

W WISCONSIN AV

N 
DR

EW
 S

T

N 
ON

EI
DA

 S
T

N 
ME

AD
E 

ST

N 
DR

EW
 S

T

N 
ON

EI
DA

 S
T

Rezoning 
1208 North Oneida Street

C-2 General Commercial District 
to R-2 Two-family District

Zoning Map

Subject Area

Subject
Area

City Plan Commission
12-14-22 ± 0 150 30075 Feet

R-1C

R-2

R-1C





LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF 1208 N. ONEIDA STREET 

DAVID KIMBALLS ADDN 6W D N60FT OF LOT 5 BLK 19 LESS DOC #1873750 FOR 

R/W, CITY OF APPLETON, OUTAGAMIE COUNTY, WISCONSIN AND INCLUDING TO 

THE MIDPOINT OF THE ADJACENT RIGHT-OF-WAY.  TAX ID NUMBER 31-6-0329-00.                                                                       



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION_____________________________               _______________________  

Owner/Applicant:  City of Appleton / Tom Kromm, Department of Public Works 

 

Location:  Portions of Appleton Street, Pacific Street, and Oneida Street, generally located north of 

Packard Street and south of Atlantic Street 

 

Owner/Applicant’s Request:  The applicant is requesting a street discontinuance to vacate portions of 

Appleton Street, Pacific Street, and Oneida Street right-of-way. 

 

BACKGROUND________________________________________________             _______________ 

In summer 2022, the configuration of intersections changed near the “S-curve” between Appleton Street 

and Oneida Street.  These changes occurred as part of the broader Appleton Street reconstruction project.  

Through this project, the street and sidewalk alignment were adjusted.  As a result, the areas proposed for 

vacation are no longer needed for public right-of-way. 

 

Per Section 23-39 of the Municipal Code, zoning district boundaries indicated as approximately following 

the centerlines of streets shall be construed to follow such centerlines.  In this case, the centerlines would 

change due to the proposed street vacation.  Therefore, it is proposed that existing zoning district 

boundaries located in the public right-of-way will be amended accordingly, as illustrated on the attached 

Exhibit “B” map. 

 

STAFF ANALYSIS______________________________________            _______________________ 

Title to Vacated Street:  When vacated, the land reverts to its original source, which in this case includes 

the parcels located adjacent to the proposed vacation areas.  Consequently, title to the portions of street 

being vacated would belong to the adjoining property owners.  The owner of parcel #31-2-0748-00 would 

acquire a vacated part of Oneida Street right-of-way totaling approximately 1,361 square feet.  The owner 

of parcel #31-2-0604-00 would acquire vacated parts of Pacific Street and Appleton Street right-of-way 

totaling approximately 2,277 square feet.  The owner of parcel #31-2-0738-00 would acquire a vacated 

part of Pacific Street and Appleton Street right-of-way totaling approximately 3,386 square feet.  The 

REPORT TO CITY PLAN COMMISSION 

Municipal Services Committee Meeting Date:  December 12, 2022 

 

Plan Commission Informal Public Hearing Date:  December 14, 

2022 

 

Common Council Meeting Date – Initial Resolution:  December 21, 

2022 

 

Common Council Meeting Date – Public Hearing (40-day waiting 

period):  February 1, 2023 

 

Item:  Street discontinuance to vacate portions of Appleton Street, 

Pacific Street, and Oneida Street 

 

Case Manager:  David Kress, Principal Planner 

Community & 

Economic  

Development 



Street Vacation – Appleton Street, Pacific Street, and Oneida Street 

December 14, 2022 

Page 2 

 

owner of parcel #31-2-0739-00 would acquire a vacated part of Pacific Street and Appleton Street right-

of-way totaling approximately 457 square feet.  The owner of parcel #31-2-0741-00 would acquire a 

vacated part of Pacific Street and Oneida Street right-of-way totaling approximately 1,433 square feet.  

Combined, the proposed street vacation areas total approximately 8,914 square feet. 

 

Existing Public Utilities:  The City will retain an easement for all existing utilities and any future utilities 

deemed necessary within the entire length and width of the vacated right-of-way. 

 

Street Right-of-Way Width:  As shown on the attached map, the proposal maintains a width of 

approximately 60 feet for the remaining public right-of-way. 

 

Street Classification:  The City’s Arterial/Collector Plan Map identifies these portions of Appleton 

Street, Pacific Street, and Oneida Street as collector streets. 

 

Surrounding Zoning and Land Uses:  The surrounding area is under the jurisdiction of the City of 

Appleton (north, south, east, and west).  The uses are generally residential and commercial in nature. 

 

North:  R-1C Central City Residential District.  The adjacent land uses to the north are currently single-

family residential. 

 

South:  PD/R-3 Planned Development Multi-Family District.  The adjacent land uses to the south are 

currently multi-family residential. 

 

East:  C-2 General Commercial District.  The adjacent land uses to the east are currently a mix of 

commercial uses. 

 

West:  R-1C Central City Residential District and R-2 Two-Family District.  The adjacent land uses to the 

west are currently a mix of single-family and two-family residential. 

 

Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030:  The City of Appleton Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030 Future Land 

Use Map identifies this area with future One and Two-Family Residential, Multi-Family Residential, and 

Mixed Use designations.  The proposed street vacation is consistent with the following excerpts from the 

Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030. 

 

OBJECTIVE 6.8 Transportation: 

Implement transportation improvements which also support the City’s desired land use, housing and 

neighborhood goals, objectives, and policies. 

Policy 6.8.3  Design neighborhood streets that will serve local transportation needs, enhance 

safety and livability, and improve neighborhood quality. 

 

Technical Review Group (TRG) Report:  This item appeared on the November 22, 2022 TRG agenda.  

No negative comments were received from participating departments. 

 

 

 

 



Street Vacation – Appleton Street, Pacific Street, and Oneida Street 

December 14, 2022 

Page 3 

 

RECOMMENDATION___________________________________________              ______________ 

Staff recommends the discontinuance of portions of Appleton Street, Pacific Street, and Oneida Street 

public right-of-way, as shown on the attached map and legal description, pending approval by the 

Municipal Services Committee, and the adoption of the Initial Resolution, BE APPROVED subject to 

the following condition: 

 

1. The existing zoning district boundaries, currently located in the public right-of-way, shall be 

amended to align with the changes in street centerlines.  The necessary zoning changes are 

described below and illustrated on the attached Exhibit “B” map.  The public right-of-way at the 

intersection of Appleton Street and Pacific Street, from PD/R-3 Planned Development Multi-

Family District to R-1C Central City Residential District.  The public right-of-way at the 

intersection of Oneida Street and Pacific Street, from R-1C Central City Residential District to 

PD/R-3 Planned Development Multi-Family District.  The public right-of-way at the intersection 

of Oneida Street and Pacific Street, from R-1C Central City Residential District to C-2 General 

Commercial District. 



2-0732

2-0735
2-0736

2-0
73

9

2-0727

2-0741

0-0604

2-0738
2-0

72
8

2-0
72

92-0
73

1

2-0719

2-0718

2-0717

2-0715

2-0714

2-0620

2-0619 2-0604

2-0602

6-0
17

5
6-0163

2-0750

2-0749

2-0748

6-0228

6-0
22

7

6-0226 6-0
21

6

2-0734
2-0733

2-0720

2-0616
2-06170-0617

114120

116124 106

52
5

53
2

54
0

60
6

61
5

61
4

70
5

62
1 62

0
70

2

208

70
5

54
5.5

54
3.5

53
7.5

53
1.5

209.5209

54
5

54
3

53
1

53
7

208

62
3

61
9

61
7

61
7.5

61
5

60
9

60
3

60
6

61
0

62
2

61
8

61
4

61
4.5

61
8.5

121.5
113117121

Subject
Areas

Subject
Areas

N 
ON

EID
A S

T

N A
PP

LE
TO

N 
ST

W ATLANTIC ST

W PACIFIC ST

E ATLANTIC ST

W PACIFIC ST

Appleton Street, Pacific Street, and Oneida Street
Partial Street Vacation

Aerial Map

City Plan Commission
12-14-2022

± 0 50 10025 Feet



INITIAL RESOLUTION 
 

WHEREAS, the public interest requires that portions of Appleton Street, Pacific 

Street, and Oneida Street, that have not previously been vacated, be vacated and 

discontinued, 

BE IT RESOLVED, that the Common Council of the City of Appleton, Wisconsin, 

hereby determines that the public interest requires that portions of Appleton Street, Pacific 

Street, and Oneida Street, City of Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin, as hereinafter 

described, is hereby vacated and discontinued pursuant to §66.1003 of the Wisconsin 

Statutes. 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
A part of Oneida Street abutting the West side of Block Sixty-Eight (68) of the 
APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward Plat), all according to the recorded 
Assessor’s Map of the City of Appleton, being located in the Southeast Quarter 
(SE ¼) of the Northwest Quarter (NW ¼), Section 26, Township 21 North, Range 
17 East, City of Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin, containing 1,361 
square feet of land and being further described by: 
Commencing at the Northeast corner of Pacific Street and Oneida Street, said 
point also being the Southwest corner of Block 68 of the APPLETON PLAT (aka 
Second Ward Plat) and being the point of beginning; 
Thence South 89°55'06" West 5.70 feet along the Westerly extension of the 
North line of Pacific Street; 
Thence Northwesterly 4.73 feet along the arc of a curve to the right having a 
radius of 4.00 feet and the chord of which bears North 56°12'19" West 4.46 feet; 
Thence Northwesterly 27.81 feet along the arc of a curve to the left having a 
radius of 108.00 feet and the chord of which bears North 29°42'19" West 27.73 
feet; 
Thence Northerly 12.65 feet along the arc of a curve to the right having a radius 
of 11.00 feet and the chord of which bears North 04°08'10" West 11.96 feet; 
Thence Northerly 70.91 feet along the arc of a curve to the left having a radius of 
228.50 feet and the chord of which bears North 19°55'06" East 70.63 feet to the 
East line of Oneida Street; 
Thence South 00°01'51" West 104.90 feet along the East line of Oneida Street 
and being coincident with the West line of said Block 68 to the point of beginning. 
AND 
A part of Pacific Street abutting the North side of Block Fifty-Nine (59) of the 
APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward Plat), all according to the recorded 
Assessor’s Map of the City of Appleton, being located in the Southeast Quarter 



(SE ¼) of the Northwest Quarter (NW ¼), Section 26, Township 21 North, Range 
17 East, City of Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin, containing 1,832 
square feet of land and being further described by: 
Commencing at the Southwest corner of Pacific Street and Oneida Street, said 
point also being the Northeast corner of Block 59 of the APPLETON PLAT (aka 
Second Ward Plat) and being the point of beginning; 
Thence South 89°55'06" West 111.86 feet along the South line of Pacific Street 
and being coincident with the North line of said Block 59; 
Thence Easterly 102.16 feet along the arc of a curve to the left having a radius of 
182.00 feet and the chord of which bears North 69°14'08" East 100.82 feet; 
Thence Southeasterly 24.35 feet along the arc of a curve to the right having a 
radius of 11.00 feet and the chord of which bears South 63°25'02" East 19.68 
feet to the Northerly extension of the West line of Oneida Street; 
Thence South 00°00'36" West 26.78 feet coincident with the Northerly extension 
of the West line of Oneida Street to the point of beginning. 
AND 
A part of Pacific Street and Appleton Street, also being formerly known as a part 
of Lot Twelve (12), Thirteen (13) and Fourteen (14) of Block Fifty-Nine (59) of the 
APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward Plat), all according to the recorded 
Assessor’s Map of the City of Appleton, being located in the Southeast Quarter 
(SE ¼) of the Northwest Quarter (NW ¼), Section 26, Township 21 North, Range 
17 East, City of Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin, containing 445 square 
feet of land and being further described by: 
Commencing at the Northwest corner of Block 59 of the APPLETON PLAT (aka 
Second Ward Plat); 
Thence South 00°02'57" East 115.69 feet coincident with the West line of said 
Block 59 to the point of beginning; 
Thence North 00°02'57" West 0.33 feet coincident with the West line of said 
Block 59; 
Thence Northeasterly 117.59 feet along the arc of a curve to the right having a 
radius of 90.00 feet and the chord of which bears North 37°22'50" East 109.40 
feet to the existing Southeasterly line of Pacific Street per A.O.D. Document 
No.778217; 
Thence South 51°15'47" West 71.53 feet (recorded as North 50°27'24" East 
71.53 feet) coincident with Southeast line of Pacific Street per A.O.D. Document 
No.778217; 
Thence South 14°01'58" West 43.81 feet (recorded as North 12°57'24" East 
43.81 feet) coincident with Southeast line of Pacific Street and the East line of 
Appleton Street per A.O.D. Document No.779003 to the West line of Block 59 
and the point of beginning. 
AND 
A part of Pacific Street and Appleton Street abutting the South side of Block 
Sixty-Seven (67) of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward Plat), all according 
to the recorded Assessor’s Map of the City of Appleton, being located in the 
Southeast Quarter (SE ¼) of the Northwest Quarter (NW ¼), Section 26, 
Township 21 North, Range 17 East, City of Appleton, Outagamie County, 



Wisconsin, containing 3,843 square feet of land and being further described by: 
Commencing at the Northeast corner of Pacific Street and Appleton Street, said 
point also being the Southwest corner of Block 67 of the APPLETON PLAT (aka 
Second Ward Plat) and being the point of beginning; 
Thence North 89°55'06" East 165.28 feet along the North line of Pacific Street 
and being coincident with the South line of said Block 67; 
Thence South 74°55'40" West 117.97 feet; 
Thence Southwesterly 57.49 feet along the arc of a curve to the left having a 
radius of 150.00 feet and the chord of which bears South 63°56'53" West 57.14 
feet to the Southerly extension of the West line of Block 67; 
Thence North 00°02'19" West 55.54 feet coincident with the Southerly extension 
of the West line of Block 67 to the point of beginning. 
AND 
A part of Pacific Street and Oneida Street also being formerly known as a part of 
Lot Seven (7) and Lot Eight (8) of Block Sixty-Seven (67) of the APPLETON 
PLAT (aka Second Ward Plat), all according to the recorded Assessor’s Map of 
the City of Appleton, being located in the Southeast Quarter (SE ¼) of the 
Northwest Quarter (NW ¼), Section 26, Township 21 North, Range 17 East, City 
of Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin, containing 1,433 square feet of land 
and being further described by: 
Commencing at the Northeast corner of Pacific Street and Appleton Street, said 
point also being the Southwest corner of Block 67 of the APPLETON PLAT (aka 
Second Ward Plat);  
Thence North 89°55'06" East 166.83 feet along the North line of Pacific Street 
and being coincident with the South line of said Block 67 to the Southwest corner 
of Lot 7 of said Block 67 and being the point of beginning; 
Thence North 51°30'19" East 128.76 feet (recorded as North 50°26'53" East 
128.73 feet) to a point on the North line of said Lot 7 being 16.99 feet West of the 
Northeast corner thereof; 
Thence North 13°33'47" East 72.61 feet (recorded as North 14°40'01" East 72.61 
feet) to a point on the West line of Oneida Street (as platted) said point being 
150.56 feet (recorded as 150.56 feet) North of the Southeast corner of said Block 
67; 
Thence Southwesterly 202.92 feet along the arc of a curve to the right having a 
radius of 155.00 feet and the chord of which bears South 37°25'22" West 188.74 
feet; 
Thence South 74°55'40" West 3.22 feet to the point of beginning. 
 
See also attached Exhibit “A” for illustration. 
 
EASEMENTS 
The City of Appleton their heirs, successors and or assigns (Grantee) hereby retain 
an easement for any and all existing utilities and also any future utilities deemed 
necessary or desirable by Grantee within the vacated right of way, including but not 
limited to, storm sewer, drainage, sanitary sewer, watermain, gas, electric, cable 
and fiber- optic within the entire length and width of the afore described right of way 



areas.   
It is further agreed that this easement shall be a permanent easement. 
It is further agreed that Grantee shall have the right to install, regrade, replace, 
relocate, operate, maintain, resize, and repair any and all of these utilities and their 
associated appurtenances.  It is further agreed that after installing, regrading, 
replacing, relocating, operating, maintaining, resizing, or repairing of these utilities 
and their associated appurtenances Grantee shall restore unimproved surfaces 
such as grass, gravel, and dirt on said property, as closely as possible, to the 
condition previously existing.  Grantee shall not be required to restore or 
compensate for any improvements or improved surfaces such as, but not limited to, 
curb and gutter, hard pavements, trees, shrubs, and landscaping, disturbed as a 
result of the maintenance activities described herein.  Buildings or any other type of 
permanent structure shall not be placed over Grantees’ facilities or in, upon or over 
said easement area.  This easement includes the right to operate any and all 
equipment deemed necessary by Grantee to perform said activities. Grantee agrees 
that it shall give timely notice to the Grantor of routine maintenance work. 

 
OWNERSHIP DISTRIBUTION OF THE VACATED STREET AREA 
It is the intent of the City of Appleton that the existing common lot line between Lot 5 
and 6 of said Block 67 be extended in a Southerly direction to its intersection with 
the proposed Northwesterly line of Pacific Street.  The remaining areas of vacated 
street right of way are intended to accrue to the sole abutting landowner. 

 
ZONING DISTRICT BOUNDARIES 
Per Section 23-39 of the Municipal Code, zoning district boundaries indicated as 
approximately following the centerlines of streets shall be construed to follow such 
centerlines.  In this case, the centerlines will change due to the proposed street 
vacation.  Therefore, it is the intent of the City of Appleton that existing zoning 
district boundaries located in the public right-of-way will be amended accordingly. 
 
The public right-of-way at the intersection of Appleton Street and Pacific Street, from 
PD/R-3 Planned Development Multi-Family District to R-1C Central City Residential 
District. 
 
The public right-of-way at the intersection of Oneida Street and Pacific Street, from 
R-1C Central City Residential District to PD/R-3 Planned Development Multi-Family 
District. 
 
The public right-of-way at the intersection of Oneida Street and Pacific Street, from 
R-1C Central City Residential District to C-2 General Commercial District. 
 
See also attached Exhibit “B” for illustration. 

 
COMMON DESCRIPTION: 
Portions of Appleton Street, Pacific Street, and Oneida Street, generally located 
north of Packard Street and south of Atlantic Street 



 
 

FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City Clerk of the City of Appleton be authorized and 

directed to give notice required by §66.1003 of the Wisconsin Statutes. 

FURTHER RESOLVED, that according to §66.1005 of the Wisconsin Statutes, upon 

vacation and discontinuance of said parts of Appleton Street, Pacific Street, and Oneida 

Street, title to the above-described streets shall belong to the adjoining property owners 

and shall acquire an ownership interest in the entire area being vacated as shown on the 

attached Exhibit Map. 

 
____________________________________  Date:  _________________________ 
City Law A22-0900 
 

 



N89°55'06"E                                 166.83'

N51°30'19"E     
     

  128.76'

(N50°26'53"E   1
28.73')PHILLIP & CLAIREREHBERGER31-2-0739-00114 W. PACIFIC STREETLOT 6, BLK.67, 2ND WARDPLAT

TIM & PAMELA MORAN120 W. PACIFIC STREET31-2-0738-00S.50', LOT 5, BLK.67, 2ND WARD PLAT

MICHAEL & CHRISTINE MORAN615 N. ONEIDA STREET31-2-0741-00LOT 7 AND 8, BLK.67, 2NDWARD PLAT31-2-0741-00

APPLETON HOUSING AUTHORITY
525 N. ONEIDA STREET31-2-0604-00PRT., BLK.59, VACATED ALLEY,2ND WARD PLAT

N1
3°

33
'4

7"
E 

 7
2.

61
'

(N
14

°4
0'

01
"E

  7
2.

61
')

TRENTIN-LEDERERFUNERAL HOME606 N. ONEIDA STREETLOT 3, W 1
2 LOT 2, BLK.68,2ND WARD PLAT31-2-0748-00

C2

C4

C6

C5

C8

S0
0°

01
'5

1"
W

   
   

   
  1

04
.9

0'

60
' R

/W

S89°55'06"W5.70'

AP
PL

ET
O

N
ST

R
EE

T

PACIFIC                 
STREET

S74°55'40"W                   
  117.97'

S74°55'40"W                   
  110.26'

(N73°52'17"E   110.26')

S51°15'47"W     
71.53'

(N50°27'24"E   7
1.53')

S89°55'06"W           111.86'

S00°00'36"W26.78'

60'

60'

VARIABLE

WIDTH

R/W

VA
RI

AB
LE

W
ID

TH
R/

W

O
N

EI
D

A
ST

R
EE

T

PACIFIC
STREET

15
0.

56
' (

15
0.

56
')

117.72' (117.84')

59.94' (60.00')

106.89' (107')

N89°55'06"E                165.28'

S74°55'40"W3.22'

C9

A

VA
C

AT
ED

AL
LE

Y

LOT 1, BLK. 59

LOT 15, BLK. 59

LOT 14, BLK. 59

LOT 3, BLK. 68

LOT 4, BLK. 68

16.99'(16.99')

60' R/W

PACIFIC
STREET

60' R/W

VACATION  AREA

VACATIONAREA

VACATIONAREA

N
00

°0
2'

19
"W

  5
5.

54
'

S1
4°

01
'5

8"
W

 4
3.

81
'

(N
12

°5
7'

24
"E

   
43

.8
1'

)

VACATION  AREA

C7

11
5.

69
' (

11
5.

69
')

S0
0°

02
'5

7E
 (S

01
°0

7'
43

"E
)

LOT 13, BLK. 59

LOT 12, BLK. 59

60'

N00°02'57"W0.33'

C3

C1

40'0' 80'

BEARINGS ARE REFERENCED TO
THE NORTH LINE OF PACIFIC
STREET(AS PLATTED), ASSIGNED
N89°55'06E

CITY OF APPLETON
DEPT. OF PUBLIC WORKS
ENGINEERING DIVISION
100 NORTH APPLETON STREET
APPLETON, WI 54911
920-832-6474
DRAFTED BY: T. KROMM
H:\Acad\Vac and Ded\2022\Pacific Street_1101_2022

SCALE IN FEET

N

S

W
E

EXHIBIT  "A"
A part of Appleton Street, Pacific Street and Oneida Street lying between Block Fifty-Nine (59), Sixty-Seven (67) and
Sixty-eight (68), of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward Plat), all according to the recorded Assessor's Map of the City of
Appleton, being located in the Southeast 1 4 of the Northwest 1 4  of Section 26, Township 21 North, Range 17 East, City of
Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin.
And
a portion of previously acquired for right of way, being a part of Lot Seven (7) and Eight (8) of Block Sixty-Seven (67) and a
part of Lot Twelve (12), Thirteen (13) and Fourteen (14) of Block Fifty-Nine (59), of the APPLETON PLAT (aka Second Ward
Plat), all according to the recorded Assessor's Map of the City of Appleton, being located in the Southeast 1 4 of the
Northwest 1 4  of Section 26, Township 21 North, Range 17 East, City of Appleton,
Outagamie County, Wisconsin.

NOTES
A = EXISTING LOT LINE SHALL BE EXTENDED TO
ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE PROPOSED NW'LY
LINE OF PACIFIC STREET.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURVE DATA TABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RADIUS

AutoCAD SHX Text
LENGTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
LC

AutoCAD SHX Text
LCB

AutoCAD SHX Text
C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.73'

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.46'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N56°12'19"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C2

AutoCAD SHX Text
108.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
27.81'

AutoCAD SHX Text
27.73'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N29°42'19"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C3

AutoCAD SHX Text
11.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
12.65'

AutoCAD SHX Text
11.96'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N04°08'10"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C4

AutoCAD SHX Text
228.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
70.91'

AutoCAD SHX Text
70.63'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N19°55'06"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C5

AutoCAD SHX Text
182.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
102.16'

AutoCAD SHX Text
100.82'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N69°14'08"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C6

AutoCAD SHX Text
11.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
24.35'

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.68'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S63°25'02"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C7

AutoCAD SHX Text
90.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
117.59'

AutoCAD SHX Text
109.40'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N37°22'50"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C8

AutoCAD SHX Text
150.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
57.49'

AutoCAD SHX Text
57.14'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S63°56'53'W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C9

AutoCAD SHX Text
155.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
202.92'

AutoCAD SHX Text
188.74'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S37°25'22"W



APPROX. NEW CENTERLINE 

 
FROM PD/R-3 TO R-1C 

 
FROM R-1C TO PD/R-3 

 
FROM R-1C TO C-2 

ZONING CHANGES 

EXHIBIT “B” 



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION___________________________________________________  _ 

Staff Contact/Petitioner:  Peter Neuberger, P.E., Department of Public Works, Engineering Division 

 

LOMR Case No. 21-05-2374P 

 

Affected Parcels:  31-1-7608-00, 31-1-7608-37 thru 45, 31-1-7608-47, 31-1-7610-01, 31-1-7610-02, 31-

1-7610-24, 31-1-7610-30, 31-1-7610-31, and 31-1-7612-20 thru 27. 

 

Petitioner’s Request:  Floodplain Zoning Amendment - Article X. Floodplain Zoning Division 1. Statutory 

Authorization, Finding of Fact, Statement of Purpose, Title and General Provisions. Sec. 23-205 (b) (2) f. 

thru i. Official maps based on other studies related to LOMR – Case No. 21-05-2374P 

 

BACKGROUND/ANALYSIS____________________________________________________  _ 

On July 13, 2022, the Department of Public Works, Engineering Division sent letters to the property owners 

who own property within the subject area pursuant to Letter of Map Revision (LOMR) Case No. 21-05-

2374P.   

 

On September 16, 2022, the City received notification from the Federal Emergency Management Agency 

(FEMA) that Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) Panel No. 55087C0328D for Outagamie County (see 

attached) was revised and will go into effect January 27, 2023 by Letter of Map Revision (LOMR).  The 

revisions to this panel were based on additional study performed by Davel Engineering and Environmental, 

Inc. “Davel” for the incorporated areas in the City of Appleton along Apple Creek Northeast.  Davel’s Letter 

of Map Revision (LOMR) revises the FIRM to reflect North Edgewood Estates, a residential subdivision 

consisting of approximately 45 single-family home sites and accessory structures along Apple Creek 

Northeast. 

REPORT TO CITY PLAN COMMISSION 

Plan Commission Informal Public Hearing Date:  December 14, 2022 

 

Common Council Public Hearing Date:  January 18, 2023 

 

Item:  Floodplain Zoning Amendment - Article X. Floodplain Zoning 

Division 1. Statutory Authorization, Finding of Fact, Statement of Purpose, 

Title and General Provisions. Sec. 23-205 (b) (2) f. thru i. Official maps 

based on other studies related to LOMR – Case No. 21-05-2374P  

 

Staff Contact:  Peter Neuberger, P.E., Department of Public Works, 

Engineering Division 

 

Report Prepared by:  Don Harp, Principal Planner 

Community and 

Economic 

Development 

 



 

Floodplain Zoning Amendment Chapter 23 Zoning Ordinance  

December 14, 2022 

Page 2 

 

 

The LOMR area is located from a point approximately 330 feet downstream (southeast) of French Road to 

a point approximately 3,140 feet downstream (southeast) of French Road.  As a result of the LOMR, the 

regulatory floodway will widen and narrow at various locations within the area of revision.  

 

The LOMR will also result in:  

 

1.  Increases and decreases in the 1-percent-annual-chance water-surface elevations, with increases 

ranging from 0 feet to 0.35 feet, and decreases ranging from 0 feet to 0.20 feet, and  

2.  Widening and narrowing of the 1-percent-annual-chance floodplain.  

 

Technical Review Group (TRG) Report:  This item appeared on the October 18, 2022 TRG agenda.  No 

negative comments were received from participating departments. 

 

RECOMMENDATION_______________________________________________________________ 

Pending public comments, staff recommends the proposed amendments to Article X Floodplain Zoning of 

Chapter 23 of the Municipal Code, Section 23-205 (b) (2) f. thru i. Official maps based on other studies, 

as attached, BE APPROVED.   

 



1 | P a g e  

 

 

PROPOSED ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENTS 

 

The text recommended to be added is underlined. The text recommended to be deleted is 

strikethrough.  

 

ARTICLE X.  FLOODPLAIN ZONING 

 

DIVISION 1. STATUTORY AUTHORIZATION, FINDING OF FACT, STATEMENT OF 

PURPOSE, TITLE AND GENERAL PROVISIONS. 

 
 

Sec. 23-205. General provisions. 

 

(b) Official maps and revisions. The boundaries of all floodplain districts are designated as A, AE, AH, AO or A1-

30 on the maps based on the Flood Insurance Study (FIS) listed below.  Any change to the base flood elevations (BFE) 

or any changes to the boundaries of the floodplain or floodway in the FIS or on the Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) 

must be reviewed and approved by the DNR and FEMA through the Letter of Map Change process (see Division 8 

Amendments) before it is effective.  No changes to RFE's on non-FEMA maps shall be effective until approved by the 

DNR.  These maps and revisions are on file in the office of the Department of Public Works, City of Appleton.  If 

more than one map or revision is referenced, the most restrictive information shall apply.   

 

 

  (2) Official maps based on other studies.  Any maps referenced in this section must be approved by the 

DNR and be more restrictive than those based on the FIS at the site of the proposed development. 

 

   a. LOMR – Case #11-05-7670P, Floodway and Floodplain revisions between Flood Insurance Study 

(FIS) Cross Section AW to BA, Outagamie County Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) panels 

55087C0318D and 55087C0319D, dated July 22, 2010. This reflects changes on the Fox River from 

just downstream of the Private Middle Dam to approximately 250 feet upstream of the Appleton 

Upper Dam. 

 

   b. LOMR – Case #13-05-7920P, Floodplain revisions between Flood Insurance Study (FIS) Cross 

Section AN to AM, Outagamie County Flood Insurance Rate panels 55087C0319D, dated July 22, 

2010. This reflects changes along the south side of the Fox River from the College Avenue Bridge 

to approximately 850 feet downstream. 

 

   c. LOMR – Case #17-05-1963P. Floodplain revisions on Outagamie County Flood Insurance Study 

(FIS) AAL Tributary Cross Section C, Outagamie County Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) panel 

55087C0336D, effective September 29, 2017. This reflects changes along the AAL Tributary from 

just downstream of Lightning Drive to approximately 200 feet upstream of East Glenhurst Lane. 

 

   d. LOMR – Case #17-05-3854P. Floodplain revisions to Outagamie County Flood Insurance Study 

(FIS) Fox River Cross Section AS through AW, Outagamie County Flood Insurance Rate Map 

(FIRM) panel 55087C0319D, effective February 16, 2018. This reflects changes along the Fox 

River from just upstream of railroad to just downstream of South Oneida Street. 

 

   e. LOMR – Case #20-05-2300P. Floodplain revisions to Outagamie County Flood Insurance Study 

(FIS) Apple Creek North Cross Section H through J, Outagamie County Flood Insurance Rate Map 

(FIRM) panel 55087C0328D, effective July 22, 2010. This reflects changes along Apple Creek 

North from approximately 1,440 feet downstream of Harrier Lance to approximately 160 feet 

downstream of Ballard Road. 

 



2 | P a g e  

 

   f.  LOMR – Case #21-05-2374P. Floodplain revisions to Outagamie County Flood Insurance Study 

(FIS) Apple Creek Northeast Cross Section H through I, Outagamie County Flood Insurance Rate 

Map (FIRM) panel 55087C0328D, effective January 27, 2023. This reflects changes along Apple 

Creek Northeast from approximately 700 feet downstream of Rubyred Drive to approximately 350 

feet downstream of French Road. 

 

  f. g. CLOMR – Case #21-05-3029R. Floodplain revisions to Outagamie County Flood Insurance Study 

(FIS) AAL Tributary from just upstream of East Glenhurst Lane to approximately 500 feet upstream 

of Everbreeze Circle, Outagamie County Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) panel 55087C0336D, 

effective November 1, 2021. 

 

   g. h. Kensington Pond Dam Failure analysis approved by the Department of Natural Resources on 

January 7, 2008, including: 

 

    1. Map dated July 2007 and titled “Figure 2, City of Appleton, Kensington Pond Dam Break 

Analysis, Hydraulic Shadow” (Hydraulic Shadow boundary from Cross Section 0.001 to 4.84). 

 

    2. Floodway data table dated 8/28/2007 and titled “Table F-10, Maximum Water Surface 

Elevations, Kensington Pond Dam Break Analysis, City of Appleton”. 

 

    3. Flood profiles dated 7/10/2007 and titled “Figure 3, Maximum Water Surface Profiles” 

(Hydraulic Shadow profile from Garners Creek Sta 0 to Sta 25000). Revisions made as a result 

of DNR review and received from Pete Neuberger via email 2/23/2021. 

 

   g. i. Outagamie County Flood Storage District Map Panel 1 of 2 approved by Wisconsin Department of 

Natural Resources and dated January 20, 2016. Prepared by DNR, approved by DNR. 

 

 

 

 
 

 





















 

 

 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION___________________________________________________  _ 

Owner:  Lawrence University c/o Joseph King 

 

Applicant:  Rettler Corporation c/o Andrew Cofran 

 

Address/Parcel:  1201 Banta Court & 1100 E. South River Street (Tax Id #’s 31-4-0279-00, 31-4-0279-

01, 31-4-0805-00, 31-4-0819-00, 31-4-0820-00, 31-4-0823-00 & 31-4-0823-01) 

 

Petitioner’s Request:  The applicant is requesting approval of a 1-Lot Certified Survey Map (CSM) that 

crosses a plat boundary.  

 

BACKGROUND  ___________________________________________________  _ 

Typically, CSMs are administratively reviewed and approved by City staff.  However, the subject 

properties were originally platted in different plats.  Parcel #’s 31-4-0823-00 and 31-4-0823-01 were 

included in Certified Survey Map #7203, parcel #31-4-0805-00 was included in the Edward West plat, 

parcel #’s 31-4-0279-00 and 31-4-0279-01 are in the Westwood plat and parcel #’s 31-4-0819-00 and 31-

4-0820-00 were included in the Fourth Ward Plat.  In order to satisfy the requirements of Chapter 236 of 

the Wisconsin State Statutes, the proposed CSM must be approved in the same manner as a Final Plat, 

which includes Plan Commission and Common Council approval. 

 

This CSM will combine the seven existing parcels to accommodate existing and future site improvements. 

 

STAFF ANALYSIS____________________________________________________________  _ 

Existing Conditions:  The parcels currently contain athletic facilities and associated accessory structures 

(Alexander Gym, Whiting Field and Banta Bowl) that are used by Lawrence University.   All parcels have 

a zoning designation of P-I Public Institutional District.  The total land area included in the CSM is 

approximately 34.286 acres. 

 

Subdivision Ordinance Requirements:  Per Section 17-26(b)(1) of the Municipal Code, widths and 

areas of lots shall not be less than that provided in the City’s Zoning Ordinance.  For the P-I Public 

Institutional District, there is no minimum required lot area or lot width, per Section 23-100(h) of the 

Municipal Code.  Proposed lot satisfies the lot development standards. 

 

Surrounding Zoning and Land Uses:  The surrounding area is under the jurisdiction of the City of 

Appleton and includes a mix of uses. 

 

REPORT TO CITY PLAN COMMISSION 

Plan Commission Meeting Date:  December 14, 2022 

 

Common Council Meeting Date:  December 21, 2022 

 

Item:  Certified Survey Map #30-22 

 

Case Manager:  Jessica Titel, Principal Planner 

Community 

and Economic 

Development 

 



Certified Survey Map #30-22 

December 14, 2022 

Page 2 
 

North:  P-I Public Institutional District.  The adjacent land uses to the north are currently railroad right-of-

way and the Newberry recreation trail.  

 

South:  PD/R-3 Planned Development Multi-Family District, P-I Public Institutional District PD/C-O 

Planned Development Commercial Office District, R-1B Single Family District, R-2 Two-Family District 

and C-2 General Commercial District.  The adjacent land uses to the south are currently multi-family, 

office, single family, two-family and commercial. 

 

East:  P-I Public Institutional District.  The adjacent land use to the east is currently public right-of-way. 

 

West:  P-I Public Institutional District.  The adjacent land to the west is currently undeveloped. 

 

Appleton Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030:  Community & Economic Development staff has reviewed 

this proposal and determined it is compatible with the Public-Institutional designation shown on the 

City’s Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030 Future Land Use Map. 

 

Technical Review Group (TRG) Report:  This item appeared on the November 22, 2022 TRG agenda.  

Comments were received from participating departments and captured in the stipulations found below. 

 

RECOMMENDATION________________________________________________________  _ 

Based on the above, staff recommends that Certified Survey Map #30-22, as shown on the attached map, 

BE APPROVED subject to the following conditions: 

 

1. The Banta Court right of way is shown incorrectly at the most Easterly point of the C.S.M., revise as 

necessary. C.S.M. #7203 also shows this right of way incorrectly. If you believe that the right of way 

is shown correctly please provide reference material that supports your belief. 

2. Remove all the references to parcel #4-821-2 that are contained within the surveyor’s certificate and 

within the abbreviated descriptions at the top of each sheet. A title document reference for this parcel 

may be added in place of the parcel number if so desired. 

3. Add the words “per the Assessor’s Map of the City of Appleton” after every instance of the legal 

descriptions that end with the words “FOURTH WARD PLAT (AKA EDWARD WEST’S FOURTH 

WARD PLAT). 

4. Add the words, Lot 1 and Outlot 2 of Certified Survey Map No.7203 to every area of the legal 

descriptions. 

5. Remove the word dedicated from the owner’s certificate or identify what is being dedicated. 

6. The intent of City code 17-17(4) is to list the title documents used to delineate the exterior boundary 

of the proposed Certified Survey Map. On sheet 6 the paragraph that starts with “This Certified 

Survey Map is contained wholly within the property described in the following recorded instruments:” 

should contain only the title documents used to delineate the exterior boundary of the proposed 

Certified Survey Map. Remove all Plat document references in this paragraph. Relocate the 

documents to the paragraph below if so desired. 

7. Per State Statute 236.34(1), This C.S.M. crosses the exterior boundary of a recorded subdivision and 

does not meet the minimum required monumentation, as detailed in Chapter 236.34.   



4-0813-40
4-0813-39

4-0813-38
4-0813-37

4-0813-11

4-0813-10

4-0813-9

4-0813-12

4-0813-17
4-0813-18

4-0813-19
4-0813-20

4-0813-24

4-0813-23

4-0813-22

4-0813-21

4-0
81

3-3
0

4-0
81

3-2
9

4-0
81

3-3
1

4-0
81

3-3
2

4-0813-36

4-0813-35

4-0813-34

4-0813-33

4-0
81

3-2
8

4-0
81

3-2
7

4-0
81

3-2
6

4-0
81

3-2
5

4-0813-8
4-0813-7

4-0813-6
4-0813-5

4-0813-16
4-0813-15

4-0813-14
4-0813-13

4-0813-14-0813-2

4-0813-34-0813-4

4-0834-3

4-0834-4

4-0834-5

4-0834-6

4-0834-8

0-0834-15

0-0834-16

1-0764-1

4-0813-70

4-0813-724-0813-71

4-0
81

3-7
4

4-0
81

3-7
5

4-0
81

3-7
6

4-0813-87

4-0813-88

4-0813-86

4-0813-844-0813-834-0813-82

4-0813-794-0813-80

4-0813-78

4-0813-52

4-0813-51

4-0813-49

4-0813-50

4-0813-474-0813-48

4-0813-46

4-0813-45

4-0813-53

4-0813-42
4-0813-41

4-0834-2

0-0834-12

0-0834-13

4-0834-7

4-0834-1

4-1942

4-0114

4-0115

4-0115-1

4-0025

4-1
93

6

0-0
55

7-3

4-0277

0-0806

0-0806-2

4-1582

4-0810

4-1
227

4-0
11

6-
2

4-0
11

6-
3

4-1937

4-0834

4-1939

4-1940
4-1941

4-1581

4-1580

4-1579

4-1578

4-1577

4-1576

4-1575

4-1
938

4-0112

4-1583

4-1584

4-1585

4-1587

4-1588

4-15894-1590

4-0105-1

4-0806

4-1591

4-0809

4-0181-5

4-0109

4-0109-1

4-0112-1

4-0113-1

4-0116

4-0116-1

4-0
11

6-
4

4-0181

4-0
18

1-6

4-0
18

1-14-0
18

1-4

4-0
18

1-3

4-0
18

1-2

4-0103-1

4-0103

4-0
10

2-1

4-0
10

2-2

4-0
10

4-1 4-0
10

2

4-0
10

1

4-0103-2
4-0

03
0

4-0
03

3

4-0
03

3-1

4-0
03

4

4-0
03

4-1

4-0019

4-0
020

4-0
020

-1

4-0804-5

4-0
804

-3

4-0804-6

4-0
07

7

4-0
08

8-2

4-0
08

8

4-0
08

7

4-0
08

8-3

4-0
01

4

4-0012-2

4-0023-1

4-00224-0023

4-0039

4-0038

4-0
04

0

4-0
04

0-1

4-0
04

1

4-0
04

1-1

4-0
04

1-2

4-0
03

5

4-0
03

6

4-0
03

7

4-0
03

7-1

4-0031
4-0032

4-0
06

6

4-0
06

6-1

4-0
06

7

4-0
06

7-1

4-0
06

8

4-0
06

8-1

4-0
06

8-2

4-0
06

9

4-0
07

0

4-0
07

1

4-0012

4-0021

4-0
02

3-3

4-0
02

3-2

4-0023-7

4-0023-5

4-0
05

8

4-0
05

9

4-0
06

0

4-0
06

1

4-0
06

2

4-0
06

3

4-0
06

4

4-0
06

5

4-0
06

5-1

4-0
06

5-2

4-0
08

8-1

4-0
08

1

4-0
07

8

4-0
07

9

4-0
08

0

4-0083

4-0082 4-0
08

4

4-0
08

4-1

4-0
08

5

4-0
08

6

4-0
09

1

4-0
09

0

4-0
09

0-1

4-0
09

0-3
4-0

09
5

4-0
048

4-0
047

4-0006

4-0005-1

4-0005

4-16264-1623

4-1624

4-1613

4-0015
4-0016

4-0017
4-0018

4-0026

4-0830

4-0025-1

4-0
051

4-0042
4-0043

4-0044
4-0045

4-0
052

4-0
050

4-0
049

4-0
048

-1

4-0004

4-0003-1

4-0002

4-0
007

4-0
010

4-1607

4-1606

4-1605

4-1592

4-1611

4-1617
4-1622

4-1625

4-1619

4-1615

4-1614
4-1601

4-1599

4-1600

4-15984-1602

4-0118-1 4-0118

4-1604 4-1596

4-15974-1603

4-0825

4-0824

4-0
19

4-2

4-0
19

4-1

4-0
19

4
4-0

80
3-4

4-0
80

3-3

4-0
80

3-2

4-0
80

3-1

4-0
19

6

4-0
79

4-7
4-0

79
4-3

4-0
79

4-2
4-0

79
4-6

4-0
79

4-1

4-0
79

4
4-0

79
4-4

4-0131

4-0129-1

4-0129

4-0
12

8-3

4-0
13

0

4-0921

4-0122

4-0279-1

4-0279

4-0
81

4

4-0818-14-0818

4-0139-5

4-0139-6

4-0139-1 4-0139-7

4-0140-4

4-0140-5

4-0150-1

4-0140-3

4-0140-2

4-0140-1

4-0140

4-01274-0126

4-0
13

2

4-0
13

4-2
4-0

13
44-0

13
3

4-0
12

9-2

4-0131-1

4-0
12

8-2

4-0
13

4-3
4-0

13
4-1

4-0
13

9-3

4-0
13

9-4

4-0798

4-0796

4-0796-1

4-0802-8

4-0123 4-0123-1

4-01244-0125

4-1595

4-1594

4-1593

4-1610

4-1609

4-1608

4-0819

4-0821-2

4-0820

4-1
227

4-0805

4-0817

4-0816

4-0778

4-0800

4-0804-15

4-0802-2

4-0802-4

4-0798-2

4-0802-3

4-2027

4-0803-5

4-0799

4-0802-9

4-2023 4-2022

4-2
021

4-0812

4-0100

4-0119

4-0
11

9-
1

4-0
12

0-1

4-0120

4-0120-2 4-0121

4-0121-1

1-0
35

7

1-0375

4-0804-11

4-0804-16

1-0395-3

1-0377

1-0
54

9

1-0395-1

1-0376

1-0378

1-0394

1-0395

1-0737

1-0716

1-0
76

4 1-0
76

1

1-0
76

2
1-0739

1-0
39

5-2

1-04181-0431
1-0

74
8

1-0
74

9

1-0
53

8

1-0
48

8

1-0
759

1-0768

1-0769

1-0769-1

1-0770

1-0
34

8

1-0
34

9

1-0
35

0

1-0
35

2

1-0
49

3

1-0
54

7

1-0
35

9

1-0
36

0

1-0344

1-0343

1-0
34

5-1

1-0
48

0

1-0
48

2

1-0
48

3

1-0
54

8
1-0

53
4

1-0
53

3
1-0

48
5

1-0442

1-0
44

3
1-0

36
1

1-0362
1-0363

1-0
46

6

1-0465

1-0
46

4

1-0452

1-0451

1-0708

1-0
59

2

1-0711

1-0
51

2
1-0

52
3

1-0
52

4

1-0
54

6

1-0
54

5

1-0
54

0

1-0
54

1

1-0
54

2

1-0
54

3

1-0
55

5

1-0
55

4

1-0
55

3

1-0
55

2

1-0
55

1

1-0
55

0

1-0
53

2

1-0
53

1

1-0
52

9

1-0
52

8

1-0
52

7

1-0
53

5

1-0
53

6

1-0
53

7
1-0

74
5

1-0
74

4

1-0
74

3

1-0
74

2

1-07471-0746

1-07601-0
758

1-0
75

0

1-0753 1-0754

1-0
53

9

1-0470

1-0
47

2

1-0
47

3

1-0
47

3-11-0
47

4

1-0
47

8

1-0
47

7

1-0
47

9

1-0
49

1

1-0
49

2

1-0
49

0

1-0
48

9

1-0730

1-0469

1-0
46

7

1-0
45

3

1-0
45

8

1-0
46

3

1-0
43

3

1-0435

1-0
45

0

1-0
44

8

1-0449

1-0
43

6

1-0
43

7

1-0
43

8

1-0
43

9

1-0
44

7

1-0
44

6

1-0
44

4

1-0
44

1

1-0
44

0

1-0353

1-0355

1-0356

1-0372

1-0
35

4

1-0373

1-0
37

41-0
37

1

1-0
37

0

1-0
36

9

1-0
36

8

1-0
36

7

1-0
35

8

1-0342

1-0341

1-0
34

6

1-0
34

7

1-0
33

8

1-0
33

7

1-0
33

6

1-0
33

5

1-0334

1-0
33

3

1-0707

1-0704
1-0

60
9

1-0
61

0

1-0
61

1

1-0
74

0

1-0740-1

1-0739-1

1-0736

1-0622
1-0616

1-0712
1-0713

1-0714
1-0715

1-0717

1-0738

1-0
54

4

4-0012-1

4-2
02

0

4-0138-7

4-0138-6

4-0136-1

4-0136-3

4-0136-4

4-0138-3

4-0137

4-0136-2

4-0138

4-0138-2

4-0138-1

4-0135-18

4-0135-17

4-0135-16

4-0135-15

4-0135-14

4-0135-9

4-0135-13
4-0135

4-0135-1

4-0135-2

4-0135-3

4-0135-4

4-0135-5

4-0
13

5-1
1

4-0
13

5-1
0

4-0
13

5-1
2

4-0
13

5-84-0
13

5-7

4-0
13

5-6

4-1
45

7

4-1
45

8

4-1
45

9

4-1
46

0

4-1
46

1

4-1
46

2

4-0138-5

4-0138-4

0-0806-1

0-0806-3

4-0109-2

4-0108

4-0107

4-0107-4

4-0107-2

4-0111

4-0110

4-0107-1

4-0107-3

4-0793-10

4-0792-3

4-0792-7

4-0804-4

4-0793

4-0140-6

4-0140-7

4-0150-4

4-0150-3

4-1485

4-1487

4-1488

4-1476

4-1478 4-1477

4-1475

4-1473

4-1471

4-1469

4-1472

4-1474

1-0479-1

4-0
09

0-4

4-1
62

7-1
4-1

62
9-1

4-1
62

7

4-0
78

2-8

4-0
80

3

4-0
80

3-6

4-0
80

2-6

4-0
80

2-7

4-2
02

6

4-0
79

3-6

4-0
79

3-1

4-0
79

3-5

4-0
79

3-2

4-0
79

3-4

4-0
79

2-5

4-0
79

2-6

4-0
80

4-8

4-0
80

4-7
4-0

80
4-2

4-0
80

4-1

4-0
79

3-9

4-0
79

3-3

4-0
79

3-1
1

4-0
79

3-1
2

4-0
79

3-1
3

4-0
79

3-7

4-0
79

3-8

4-0
77

7

4-0
77

6

4-0
77

5

4-0
78

2-7

4-0
78

2-6

4-0
78

2-5

4-0
78

2-1

4-0
78

2-2

4-0
78

2-3

4-0
78

2-4

4-0
80

1

4-0
80

4-1
4

4-0
80

4-1
3

4-0
80

4-1
2

4-0
80

4-9 4-0
80

2

4-0
80

2-5

4-0104

4-0053

4-0
07

7-1

1-0462

4-0773

4-0023-6

4-0023-4

4-0090-2

4-0089-2

4-0089-1

4-0089

4-0875-1

4-0875-3

4-0875-2

4-0092

4-0092-1

4-0093

4-0094

4-0094-2

4-0094-3

4-0826

4-1464 4-1463

4-14654-1466

4-1470

1-0766

4-0296

1-0771

1-0
36

1-1

1-0
607

1-0
339

1-0
460

1-0
434

1-0
432

1-0
365

1-0
366

1-0
59

3

1-0
607

-1

1-0
511

1-0
511

-1

0-0
55

7-2

0-0
55

7-1

1-0
752

1-0
526

1-0
525

1-0
476

1-0
751

1-0
475

1-0
76

5

4-0
827

-2

4-0827

4-0
82

7-1

4-0827

4-0827

4-0
827

4-0827

4-0827

4-0
827

4-0
827

-2

4-0277-1

4-0
019

-1

4-0
019

-2

4-0025-2

4-0025-3

4-0057

4-0054

4-0195

4-0136

4-0828-2

4-0024

4-0013

1-0706

1-0705

1-0461

1-0
345

1-0364

1-0595
1-0

613

1-0
332-1

1-0
332

1-0
459

4-0
813

-664-0
813

-68

4-0813-574-0813-564-0813-55

4-0813-62

4-0813-63

4-0813-64

4-0813-65

4-0
813

-67

4-0813-54

4-0792-2

4-0828-3

4-0139

4-0139-2

4-0828-4

1-0
48

1

1-0
46

8

1-0
45

5

1-0
45

6

1-0
45

7

1-0
44

5

1-0
340

4-2
025

4-0829-1

4-0829-2

4-0829-3

4-0829-4

4-0829-5

4-0
82

9-6 4-0
82

9-7

4-0831

1-0765

1-0719

1-0731

1-0729-1

4-0828-6

4-0828-5

4-08234-0823-1

4-0828-7

4-0828-9

0-0834-10

0-0834-11

1-0772

1-0772-1

1-0772-2

4-0
81

3-5
8

4-0
81

3-5
9

4-0798-1

4-2024

4-0828

4-0296-4
4-0296-1

4-0296-3

4-0828-8

4-0798-3

4-0798-4

4-0296-2

30
3.5

11
8.5

30
0.5

12
9

11
8

11
2

11
8

12
2

12
8

11
3

11
9

12
5

12
6

132

108115

129

30
3

30
2

30
3

30
3

20
6

212

802.5

902.5 926.5920.5

743

909903 913-15 921 933827821

921915911 927 933 939

827 833

914908902 926

837
90

814.5

11
41

11
43

11
45

11
471149

11
53 11

55

11
2

13
7

11
4

12
6

739 915909903 921803 809 825

914 924908902838 844832826820

1
2

10

12

14

20
7

217

31
6

30
0

4

32
2

33
0

40
0

6

812 816 820 826 832 836 844

843837831

804

741739

815

835 839
738 742

8

610-12 622-24 632-36

1001

1010

1000

1011

1028

10
16

1027

619

612 620

611-13

724

711625 633 639

628

731
737 801

A

D

C

A B

A
B

C

A
B

C

A
B

C

D
C

B

A
B

C

1107

14 10

14

1027
1033

1024

1108

1100

1032

1005

1003

1005

1001

12
07

12
01

11
24

11
32

11
15

11
27

11
14

12
07

12
06

12
00

12
12

12
01

12
05

11
16

12
29

11
06

-0
8

10
40

2

2822
18

732

707 717 723 731

813 819 915

830

708 714 722 732 740

9

808 816 900 908

8
34

624-26 632 702

831 901

724708 728714 902620

5
6

D
C

A
B

D
C

1335.5

1304.5

15311525

15241520151415001424

151915131501

14191413

10
02

152415181512

1529152315171511

10
02

1422

1435

1430

1310
1213

1111

1148

1212

1100

1206
1304

1322

13351331

1525

1519

1511

1316

1404

1425

1401

1037

1025

1330

1107

1101

1101

1441

1036

1301 1309 1319 1325

1000

42
7 42

4
41

6

71
9

73
1

82
7

86
90

98

91
87

72
5

72
1

72
9

80
3

81
1

81
7

82
3

82
7 82

4
83

0
91

2
91

8
92

4

92
1

91
7

91
3

90
5

83
1

91
1

91
7

92
1

92
9

90
1

90
9

91
8

91
2

90
6

90
0

82
8

82
0

62
5.5

90
6

94

95

819

913

A
C

B

A
B

C

A
B

DC

C D
A B

941

933
929

937

925 A
B

C
D

ABCD
ABC

13

11013
1031

1025 1035

11
17

11
21

12

12
01

11
25

11
31

12
01

12
07

12
13

12
04

11
13

12
06

12
00

11
34

11
24

11
12

14 10 12
19

12
17

12
21

12
18

12
12

11
10

11
18

11
24

11
30

11
11

11
19

12
00

12
08

12
12

12
18

11

14
10

11

10
07

10
13

10
19

10
25

10
35

11
01

11
07

11
09

10
32

10
24

10
18

10
14

10
10

10
03

10
11

10
13

10
19

10
27

10
33

10
08

10
12

10
16

10
22

10
28

11
0711
04

1021

11
02

15

16

15 1417 1429 1435

1418
17

27

26
22

18

19

18

3

31

30

3

21

39 41 43

5453

62

7
6

50

9

57
63

33

D

66
70

74
78

73
69

7

65

82

5

4

6

9

5

D

A B C D

A
B

DCA B

B
A

A
B

D
C

A
B

C

1313-15

1305-07

1507

117
109

121

125

127

137

136

130
124

120

148

156
145

149

1300 1302

1403

1401

1313

1309

1513-15

1510

1509-11

15321526152015141508150214381434

152715231519151315091503143714351425 1429

1319

1326

1322

1312

1308

1201

1209
1205

120
1

15301518

15191513150114431437

202

212
201

205

209

1410

218

1229

1225
1221

121
7

1420-22

211
213

219

221

231
225

228

302

311

317

323

329

316

322

738 744
738.5 744.5732.5

20
9

21
3.5

740

813 817

21
2.5

826.5
802 832826820814808 838

833.5
803 839 845

21
2

21
8

22
4

22
8

22
9

813 821 825 831

21
0

21
4

21
9

21
1

1130
1100

20
1

10
5

803 845

940

1420 1424 1428 1434 1440 1502 1510

15211515150715031429 1435

1526 152815201514

833 839 845815

836826822-24814

740 802 818810 844838832826 910902 914 922 926 932

181

936 942
936.5

930920

943937931

924914906

925921909

30
0

23
0-

32
22

4-
26

22
5

21
7

20
9

20
7

938.5

100
123

116
120

124

217

207

907-909

920914908816814808802

37 40

46
-4

8

44-45

5859

152415181512 1530

1521 152715151513

11
19

11
25

12
01

12
07

12
13

12
15

10
05

10
11

10
17

10
25

10
31

1532

101

744

821815 827 833809

1305

1301

955

A
B

12
00

161

21

2030

25

12
13

980

975

22
5

21
9

21
3

839809

832 838

20
6

21
2

21
6

22
2

21
9

22
5

21
1

20
9

22
6

20
3

20
8

915

932 938920

223

231

141

13

17

933

E SOUTH RIVER ST

E COLLEGE AVE BANTA CT

S WEST AV

S R
IVE

RH
EA

TH
 W

AY

E JOHN ST

P-I

R-1B

M-2

R-1C

P-I

R-1B

P-I R-3

P-I

PD/C-2

P-I

PD/R-3

PD/C-O

R-1B

C-2

C-2

CBD

P-I

P
P

HY 96

E CALUMET ST

HWY 441

HY
 44

1

E TAFT AV

S L
AW

E 
ST

S M
EM

OR
IA

L D
R

E WISCONSIN AV

N 
MA

SO
N 

ST

N 
RI

CH
MO

ND
 ST

E NEWBERRY ST

W COLLEGE AV N 
DR

EW
 S

T

E PLANK RD
S M

AT
TH

IAS
 S

T

N 
LA

WE
 S

T

EIS
EN

HO
WE

R 
DR

N MEADE ST

VALLEY RD

N 
ON

EI
DA

 S
T

E JOHN ST

W SIXTH ST

N 
DI

VI
SIO

N 
ST

S KENSINGTON DR
HY 441

HY
 44

1

Lawrence University - 
Whiting Field & Banta Bowl
Certified Survey Map #30-22

Zoning Map

Subject Area

Subject
Area

City Plan Commission
12-14-22

R-1C

± 0 500 1,000250 Feet



4-0813-11

4-0813-10

4-0813-9

4-0813-12

4-0813-17
4-0813-18

4-0813-19
4-0813-20

4-0813-24

4-0813-23

4-0813-22

4-0813-21

4-0813-36

4-0813-35

4-0813-34

4-0813-33

4-0
81

3-
28

4-0
81

3-
27

4-0
81

3-
26

4-0
81

3-
25

4-0813-8
4-0813-7

4-0813-6
4-0813-5

4-0813-16
4-0813-15

4-0813-14
4-0813-13

4-0813-14-0813-2

4-0813-34-0813-4

4-0834-3

4-0834-4

4-0834-5

4-0834-6

4-0834-8

4-0813-70

4-0813-724-0813-71

4-0
81

3-7
4

4-0
81

3-7
5

4-0
81

3-7
6

4-0813-87

4-0813-88

4-0813-86

4-0813-844-0813-834-0813-82

4-0813-794-0813-80

4-0813-78

4-0813-49

4-0813-50

4-0813-42
4-0813-41

4-0834-2

0-0834-12

0-0834-13

4-0834-7

4-0834-1

4-1942

4-0025

0-0806

0-0806-2

4-1582

4-0810

4-1
227

4-1940
4-1941

4-1581

4-1580

4-1579

4-0112

4-1583

4-1584

4-1585

4-1587

4-1588

4-15894-1590

4-0105-1

4-0806

4-1591

4-0809

4-0181-5

4-0109

4-0109-1

4-0112-1

4-0113-1

4-0181

4-0
18

1-6
4-0

18
1-14-0

18
1-4

4-0
18

1-3

4-0
18

1-2

4-0103-1

4-0103

4-0
10

2-1

4-0
10

2-2

4-0
10

4-1 4-0
10

2

4-0
10

1
4-0103-2

4-0
04

8
4-0

04
7

4-0025-1

4-0
05

1

4-0042
4-0043

4-0044
4-0045

4-0
05

2

4-0
05

0

4-0
04

9
4-0

04
8-1

4-1607

4-1592

4-0825

4-0824

4-0122

4-0279-1

4-0279

4-0818-14-0818

4-0126

4-0796-1

4-0123

4-0125

4-1593

4-1609

4-1608

4-0819

4-0821-2

4-0820

4-1
227

4-0805

4-0817
4-2022

4-0812

4-0100

4-0120

4-0120-2

1-0
74

8
1-0

47
9

1-0730

4-0136-1

4-0137

4-0136-2

4-0138

4-0138-2

4-0138-1

0-0806-1

0-0806-3

4-0109-2

4-0108

4-0107

4-0107-4

4-0107-2

4-0111

4-0110

4-0107-1

4-0107-3

1-0479-1

4-0104

1-0766

1-0
76

5

4-0
82

7-2

4-0827

4-0
82

7-1

4-0827

4-0827

4-0
82

7

4-0827

4-0
827

4-0
82

7-2

4-0025-2

4-0025-3

4-0828-2

4-0024
4-0

813
-664-0

813
-68

4-0813-574-0813-564-0813-55

4-0813-62

4-0813-63

4-0813-64

4-0813-65

4-0
813

-67

4-0813-54

4-0828-3

4-0828-4

4-0829-1

4-0829-2

4-0829-3

4-0829-4

4-0829-5

4-0
82

9-6 4-0
82

9-7

1-0731

1-0729-1

4-0828-6

4-0828-5

4-08234-0823-1

0-0834-10

0-0834-11

1-0772

1-0772-1

4-0
813

-58
4-0

813
-59

11
41

11
43

11
45

11
47

11 49

11
53

11
55

13
7

11
4

12
6

921

217

1001

1010

1000

1011

1028

10
16

1027A

D

C

A
B

A

B

C

A

B

C

A

B

C

D
C

B

A
B

C

1027
1024

1032

1005

1003

1005

1001

D

A
B

D
C

1335.5

1304.5

10
02

1310

1213

1111

11 48

1212

11 00

1206

1304

1322

1335
1331

1316

1404

1425

1401

1037

1025

1330

11 07

11 01

11 01

1036

1301
1309

1319
1325

1000

86
90

98

91
87

72
5

72
1

72
9

80
3

81
1

81
7

82
3

82
7

82
4

83
0

91
2

91
8

92
4

91
1

91
7

92
1

92
9

90
6

94

95

819

913

A

C

B

A

B

C

A

B

D
C

C
D

A
B

941

933

929

937

925

A

B

C

D

A

B
C

D

A
B

C

11013
1031

11

10
07

10
13

10
19

10
25

10
35

10
32

10
24

10
18

10
14

10
10

1021

3

74
78

73

7

82

5

4

6

5

D

A
B

C

D

A
B

DCA B

1313-15

1305-07

1313

1309

1319

1326

1322

1312

1308

1201

1209

1205

120
1

1229

1225

1221

121
7

21
3

21
9

23
1

22
5

31
1

31
7

32
3

32
9

32
2

11 30

11 00

20
1

18
1

1305

1301

955

A

B

12
13

980

975

E COLLEGE AV

E SOUTH RIVER ST

E BANTA CT

S WEST AV

E JOHN ST
Lawrence University - 

Whiting Field & Banta Bowl
Certified Survey Map #30-22

Aerial Map

City Plan Commission
12-14-22

Subject Area

± 0 500 1,000250 Feet

















Page | 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

BACKGROUND AND PURPOSE  _________________________________________  _ 

The Subdivision Ordinance (Chapter 17 of the Municipal Code) was last amended in 2010.  Staff from 

multiple City departments have been working collaboratively to review and update various sections 

throughout this chapter.  This will be an ongoing effort, and the information below/attached represents the 

first bundle of proposed text amendments.  The primary objectives for these proposed amendments are 

listed below. 

 

• Incorporate recommendations from the “Fee In Lieu of Land Dedication and Public Facility Needs 

Assessment” completed by Baker Tilly. 

The Parks, Recreation, and Facilities Management Department contracted with Baker Tilly to 

prepare this report, which serves as the basis for the land dedication (square feet per dwelling 

unit) and fee in lieu of dedication (dollars per dwelling unit) numbers included in the proposed 

text amendments.  This item was approved by Common Council on December 7, 2022. 
 

• Simplify and clarify expectations for the land dedication process. 
 

• Include trails in the dedication process and aid in the implementation of the Trails Master Plan. 
 

• Comply with applicable requirements of 2017 Wisconsin Act 243, particularly Section 236.45(6) 

of the Wisconsin State Statutes. 

 

In addition to the objectives outlined above, Community and Economic Development Department staff 

took into account recommendations from the City of Appleton Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030.  Listed 

below are related excerpts. 

 

OBJECTIVE 6.3 Transportation: 

Create an environment that is safe and conducive to walking and bicycling throughout the entire city. 

Policy 6.3.1  Continue to prioritize bicycle and pedestrian improvement projects that make 

destinations more accessible, including but not limited to greater connectivity between important 

destinations within the community, and to regional bicycle and pedestrian networks. 

Policy 6.3.7  Support implementation of the City’s Trail Master Plan in order to create a 

comprehensive network of well linked bike lanes and off-street trails. 

REPORT TO CITY PLAN COMMISSION 

Plan Commission Meeting Date:  December 14, 2022 

 

Item:  Informational Presentation of Draft Subdivision Ordinance Text 

Amendments – Chapter 17 of the Municipal Code 

Article I In General:  Section 17-3 

Article II Plats:  Section 17-4 

Article V Dedications and Reservations:  Sections 17-29, 17-30, 17-31, 17-

32, 17-33, 17-34, and 17-35 

 

Case Manager:  David Kress, Principal Planner 

                                             

     Community and  

     Economic 

     Development 



Page | 2 

 

 

OBJECTIVE 9.6 Economic Development: 

Create a vibrant environment that is conducive to attracting and retaining talented people. 

Policy 9.6.1  Continue the City’s efforts to expand and improve its amenities such as trails, parks 

and recreation, the Fox Cities Performing Arts Center, the Appleton Public Library, Fox Cities 

Exhibition Center, sporting facilities, and other cultural or civic offerings. 

 

OBJECTIVE 10.3 Land Use: 

Support future changes to zoning and other regulatory tools which are necessary to achieve the type of 

urban form and development reflective of smart growth principles, including support for “complete” 

neighborhoods (neighborhoods where residents can meet the majority of their daily needs on foot and by 

bicycle) throughout the City and in growth areas. 

Policy 10.3.5  Plan for park amenities in complete neighborhoods and integrate into existing 

neighborhoods. 

 

OBJECTIVE 18.2 Park and Recreation: 

Continue to work with land developers and municipalities to acquire new park land through dedication or 

other means, as new development occurs. 

Policy 18.2.1  Continue park land and trail dedication, or fee-in-lieu-of land dedication 

requirements for all new residential development.  Additional land should be required for new 

development in the north, far southeast, and southwest parts of Appleton and its future growth 

area. 

 

OBJECTIVE 18.3 Park and Recreation: 

Develop the City's park system as an interconnected network of sites linked by greenways and trails. 

Policy 18.3.2  Implement the recommendations contained within the 2016 Appleton Trails Master 

Plan. 

 

PROPOSED TEXT AMENDMENTS_____________________________________________  _ 

Text amendments initiated directly by Plan Commission will be processed in accordance with Sections 

62.23(5) and 236.45(4) of the Wisconsin State Statutes.  This process would include future review and 

action by Plan Commission (after informal hearing), as well as review and action by Common Council 

(after public hearing). 

 

Staff offers the following draft text amendments.  The text recommended to be added is underlined.  The 

text recommended for deletion is identified by strikethrough.  Staff commentary is identified in blue 

italics to provide insight regarding that specific amendment/change.  The language below can be modified 

upon direction of the Plan Commission. 

 
Sec. 17-3. General provisions. 

 

 (d) Dedication and reservation of lands.  Streets, Highways, Trails, Parks, Drainageways, Stormwater Facilities, and 

Floodplain.  Whenever a tract of land to be divided or developed within the jurisdiction of this ordinance encompasses all or 

any part of a street, highway, trail, park, drainageway, stormwater facility, floodplain, or other public way which has been 

designated on the a duly adopted municipal or regional official map, comprehensive plan, or other plan officially adopted by is 



Page | 3 

 

in any way determined to be such by the Plan Commission or Common Council, said public way shall be dedicated or reserved 

by the owner in the locations and dimensions indicated on said plan or component and as set forth in this ordinance. 

 

 

Sec. 17-4.  Preplatting requirements. 

 

 (a) Preplatting conference.  Prior to submitting an application for the approval of a Preliminary Plat within the corporate 

limits, the subdivider shall schedule a preplattting conference with the City Engineer or his or her their designee.  The purpose 

of the preplatting conference is to provide an opportunity for communication between the developer subdivider and City staff, 

regarding the purpose and objectives of these regulations, the Official Map, cComprehensive pPlan, Comprehensive Outdoor 

Recreation Plan, Trails Master Plan, zoning regulations, erosion control and stormwater management practices, neighborhood 

plans, and duly adopted plan implementation devices of the City, and to otherwise assist the subdivider in planning the 

development.  The subdivider will receive information regarding required procedures. 

 

(1) The City staff involved in the preplatting conference shall include, but not be limited to, representatives from the 

Department of Public Works, Community and Economic Development Department, Parks, Recreation and 

Facilities Management Department, and Fire Department. 
 

 (b) Required information.  The following information shall be submitted to the City Engineer or his or her their designee 

prior to the preplatting conference: 

 

 (1) The scaled sketch plan shall show: 

 

   a. The title, scale, north point, and date; 

 

   b. The boundaries of the property to be subdivided; 

 

   c. Natural characteristics such as drainage, wetlands, steep slopes, hills, ridges, floodplains, environmentally 
sensitive lands, and wooded areas; 

 

   d. Development characteristics such as surrounding streets, existing structures, and available utilities; 

 

   e. The proposed layout of streets, blocks, and lots; 

 

   f. The proposed location of business, parkland, trails, and other nonresidential areas; 

 

   g. Existing easements and covenants affecting the property; and 

 

   h. Where site conditions permit, any tract subdivided into parcels containing one (1) or more acres shall be 

arranged to allow future resubdivision of any parcels into smaller lots. 
 

  (2) The scaled location sketch shall show the relationship of the proposed subdivision to: 

 

   a. Traffic arterials; 

 

   b. Schools, parks, playgrounds, trails, and other community facilities; 

 

   c. Churches and retail facilities; 

 

   d. Public transportation; 

 
   e. Local zoning districts; and 

 

   f. Existing plats. 

(Code 1965, §21.16, Ord 200-01, §1, 12-24-01, Ord 140-06, §1, 12-26-06) 

 



Page | 4 

 

  (3) The subdivider shall indicate how they propose to accommodate parkland and/or trail needs in a manner that is 

consistent with §17-29. 

 

Comments:  Listed the City departments to be involved in preliminary platting discussions, as noted above.  

Clarified that park/trail needs are items to be evaluated during the pre-submittal process. 
 

 

Sec. 17-29.  Dedication of public parks and other public sites and open spaces. 

 

 (a) Purpose.  In order The requirements of this section are established to ensure that adequate parks, open spaces, and 

sites for other public uses may be are properly located and preserved as the community develops.  , and in order This section 

has also been established to ensure that the cost of providing park and recreation sites and facilities necessary to serve the 
additional families people brought into the community by subdivision development may be most equitably apportioned on the 

basis of the additional need created by the individual subdivision or minor land division development.  , the following 

provisions are established: The requirements shall apply to all lands proposed for all residential development. 

 

 (b) Applicability.  Any subdivision or minor land division (certified survey map) approval which enables the creation of 

additional dwelling units, and that has not already been subject to the requirements of this section, shall require compliance 

with the parkland and/or trail dedication and fee in lieu of dedication requirements included in this section. 

 

 (c) Exception.  Reconfiguration of existing lots and redevelopment which does not create new, additional lots shall not be 

subject to the provisions of this section.  Zoning districts not listed in the tables under §17-29(e)(1) and §17-29(f)(1) are 

exempt from the provisions of this section. 
 

 (d) Conformance with adopted ordinances and planning documents.  The location, size, standards, and 

recommendations related to parkland and/or trail dedication and fee in lieu of parkland and/or trail dedication shall be 

consistent with the following adopted city documents: Official Map, Comprehensive Plan, Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation 

Plan, Trails Master Plan, and/or other document officially adopted by Common Council. 

 

Comments:  Created the paragraph above regarding consistency with municipal plans in order to comply with 
2017 Wisconsin Act 243, particularly Section 236.45(6) of the Wisconsin State Statutes. 
 

(a) Reservation of potential sites.  In the design of the subdivision or minor land division, consideration shall be given 

to the adequate provision of and correlation with such public sites or open areas.  Where it is determined by the Plan 

Commission that a portion of that subdivision or minor land division is required for such public sites or open spaces, the 

subdivider may be required to reserve such area for a period not to exceed three (3) years, after which the City shall either 

acquire the property or release the reservation. 

 

(b) (e) Dedication of sites Parkland and/or trail dedication.  Within the corporate limits of the City, the subdivider shall 

dedicate land to provide for park, trail, and/or recreation needs in accordance with the adopted ordinances and 

planning documents described in subsection (d) above. 
 

(1) Within the corporate limits of the City, the subdivider shall provide and dedicate to the public either a minimum 

of five (5) acres of land to provide for park and recreation needs of the community as required by the adopted 

comprehensive plan or as determined by the Plan Commission in conjunction with the subdivider and in  

Dedication area calculation.  The dedication to the public shall be a minimum of three (3) acres or an amount of 

land to be determined in accordance with the zoning classification intended for each lot in the subdivision as 

specified in the following table, whichever is greater.: 

 

 

Types of Dwelling Units 

 and Zones 

Percent Allocation 

of Total Gross 

Residential Acreage 

R-1A zone, one-family 5 

R-1B and R-1C zone, one-family 6 
R-2 zone, two-family 8 



Page | 5 

 

R-3 zone, apartment 12 

PD (Planned Development 

Overlay – Residential) 

12 

 

 

Zoning District 

Land Dedication 

(per dwelling unit) 

R-1A, R-1B, R-1C, and R-2 800 square feet 

R-3, PD, and TND 650 square feet 

 

Comments:  Changed the land dedication amount as shown above based on the “Public Facility Needs 

Assessment” completed by Baker Tilly and approved by Common Council on December 7, 2022.  The Baker Tilly 
report included irregular numbers (789.11 square feet for single-family and 667.26 square feet for multi-family), so 

the numbers above were rounded up and down, respectively.  Adjusted from a minimum of five acres to a minimum 

of three acres based on direction from the Parks, Recreation, and Facilities Management Department.  Streamlined 
the table above to improve usability. 
 

(2) Dedication consultation and land evaluation.  The location, suitability, and dimensions of the land to be 

dedicated shall be determined in consultation between the subdivider and appropriate City departments (see §17-

4), prior to submission of the preliminary plat or certified survey map.  The land to be dedicated must be free of 

wetlands, floodplain, or other limitations that would prevent the land from being used for parkland purposes, 

unless this requirement is waived by the Director of Parks, Recreation and Facilities Management or their 

designee. 

 

a. Factors used in evaluating the adequacy of land to be dedicated shall include, but not be limited to, size, 
shape, topography, geography, tree cover, access, and location of people to be served. 

 

b. Stormwater ponds may be located within the land to be dedicated, but pond square footage shall not count 

toward the dedication requirement unless designed and constructed to serve as a park amenity, as determined 

by the Director of Parks, Recreation and Facilities Management or their designee. 

 

Comments:  Identified factors above to be considered when evaluating the feasibility of land for dedication, with 
the goal of having land dedicated that is usable for park development and programming purposes. 
 

(3) Reservation of additional land.  Where the adopted ordinances and planning documents described in §17-29(d) 

call for a larger amount of land than the subdivider is required to dedicate, the land needed beyond the minimum 

amount shall be reserved for subsequent purchase by the City.  Such acquisition must occur within three (3) years 

from the date of approval of the final plat or certified survey map, unless the timing or other details regarding the 

conveyance are modified by the development agreement.  If such acquisition does not occur within the specified 

time period, the City shall release the reservation. 

 

  (2) Where such dedication is not feasible or is not compatible with the comprehensive plan, the subdivider shall in 

lieu thereof pay to the City a fee according to the zoning classification intended for each lot in the subdivision as 
specified in the following table: 

 

Types of Dwelling Units 

 and Zones 

In Lieu of Payment 

(per unit) 

R-1A zone, one-family $300.00 

R-1B zone, one-family $300.00 

R-1C zone, one-family $300.00 

R-2 zone, two-family $200.00 

R-3 zone, apartment $150.00 

PD (Planned Development 

Overlay – Residential) 

$150.00 

 



Page | 6 

 

  (3) Such fees shall be held in a nonlapsing fund to be used exclusively for immediate or future site acquisition or 

capital improvement. 

 

(c) (f) Proportionate payment in lieu of parkland and/or trail dedication.  Where such dedication is not feasible or is 

not consistent compatible with the comprehensive plan adopted ordinances and planning documents described in 
subsection (d) above, the subdivider landowner shall, in lieu thereof, pay to the City a fee equivalent to the value of 

the required dedication.  Such fee should be distributed and paid as follows:  

 

(1) Fee amount.  In lieu of parkland and/or trail dedication, the landowner shall pay to the City a fee according to the 

zoning classification of each lot as specified in the following table: 

 

Zoning District 

  

In Lieu Payment 

(per dwelling unit) 

R-1A, R-1B, R-1C, and R-2 $1,100.00 

R-3, PD, and TND $900.00 

 

Comments:  Changed the fees as shown above based on the “Public Facility Needs Assessment” completed by 

Baker Tilly and approved by Common Council on December 7, 2022.  The Baker Tilly report included irregular 

numbers ($1,097.29 for single-family and $927.83 for multi-family), so the numbers above were rounded up and 

down, respectively.  Repositioned and streamlined the table above to improve usability. 
 

(1) No payment shall be required for a lot created by the subdivision of land under this ordinance on which a 

residential structure already exists, or which is a residential parcel in excess of one hundred twenty (120) acres 

and not intended for immediate sale or other conveyance. 

 

(2) (2) Fee collection.  The required payment shall be made before the certification of approval may be affixed to 

the Final Plat by the landowner upon the issuance of a building permit for individual lots. 

 

Comments:  Revised the paragraph above regarding the timing for fee payment in order to comply with 2017 
Wisconsin Act 243, particularly Section 236.45(6) of the Wisconsin State Statutes. 
 

(3) Fee deposit.  Such fees shall be deposited and held in a nonlapsing fund to be used exclusively for immediate or 

future site acquisition or capital improvement. 

 

(3) (4) Further division of land.  After the Final Plat has been recorded, no If a lot or parcel may be is further 

divided, by replat, or conveyance as defined in W.S.A. §706.01(3), and no building permit may be issued, unless: 

payment of the fee as specified in this section must be made, upon issuance of a building permit, for each 

additional undeveloped lot or parcel created by the land division. 
 

   a. Such further division has been approved by the Plan Commission as being in accordance with the purpose of 

this ordinance and with the purposes of W.S.A. Chapter 236; 

 

   b. Payment of the fee as specified in §17-28(3) shall be made for each additional lot or parcel created by the 

division.; and 

 

   c. The proportionate payment in lieu of dedication as set forth in this section shall be paid for all certified 

survey maps, and the Register of Deeds of the county in which the land is located shall not accept a certified 

survey map for record unless the map has been approved by the Common Council. 

 
 (g) Provision of land for trails.  The following requirements are included in this chapter to recognize the importance of 

trails within and between developments.  Trails provide access to parks, open spaces, and other community destinations. 

 

(1) Within the corporate limits of the City, the subdivider shall provide land for trail needs in accordance with the 

adopted ordinances and planning documents described in subsection (d) above.  The location, suitability, and 

dimensions shall be determined in consultation between the subdivider and appropriate City departments (see 



Page | 7 

 

§17-4), prior to submission of the preliminary plat or certified survey map.  The following factors and criteria 

shall be considered: 

 

a. A subdivision and/or minor land division adjacent to an existing trail shall provide connection(s) to said trail. 

 
b. A subdivision and/or minor land division in an area identified with a proposed trail, per the Trails Master 

Plan, shall accommodate future trail placement using outlot(s) dedicated to the public and/or widened street 

right-of-way.  In limited cases, the use of easements may also be considered. 

 

c. Outlots dedicated to the public for trail purposes shall be exempt from any dimensional standards on lot 

width and lot area found in Chapter 23, Zoning of the Municipal Code and from lot design standards found in 

§17-26.  These outlots must be noted as such on the Final Plat or Certified Survey Map. 

 

d. Exact trail placement and configuration is adaptable, based on site features at the time of subdividing.  The 

location and dimensions of land needed for a trail shall reasonably accommodate development of the 

property.  To allow for trail pavement, clearances, and other amenities, a corridor width of twenty (20) feet 

will be considered typical. 
 

e. Unless otherwise agreed upon, the City is responsible for design, construction, and maintenance of trails after 

the land is dedicated or transferred to the City. 

 

f. Rules governing trail use are found in Chapter 13, Parks and Recreation of the Municipal Code. 

 

(2) The area of the outlot(s) and/or widened street right-of-way dedicated for trail purposes shall be counted toward 

the parkland dedication requirement as specified in §17-29(e). 

 

Comments:  Created the section above to include trails in the dedication process and aid in the implementation of 

the Trails Master Plan. 
 

 (d) (h) Determination of feasibility.  The determination as to the feasibility of dedication shall be made by the Common 

Council City Plan Commission.  When dedication to the public is proposed for a certified survey map, the acceptance of the 

dedication must be approved by Common Council before administrative approval of the certified survey map. 
(Code 1965, §21.13(1)(c); Ord 55-94, §1, 4-20-94; Ord 67-94, §1, 6-18-94, Ord 200-01, §1, 12-24-01, Ord 140-06, §1, 12-26-

06; Ord 44-09, §1, 3-10-09) 

 
 

Sec. 17-30.  Identification of dedicated areas. 

 

 All areas to be dedicated to the public for except streets shall be clearly identified as such on the Final Plat or Certified 

Survey Map.  All other areas to be dedicated for public use shall be clearly identified on the Final Plat or Certified Survey 

Map, with its intended purpose noted. 

(Code 1965, §21.13(1)(d), Ord 200-01, §1, 12-24-01, Ord 140-06, §1, 12-26-06) 

 

 

Sec. 17-31.  Reservation of road street widths. 

 
 Minimum street right-of-way widths are identified in §17-25.  Any street Road widths requested in excess of the minimum 

primary arterial rights-of-way established in this ordinance are required to requirements must be reserved as specified in §17-

29(e)(3). 

(Code 1965, §21.13(2)(a), Ord 200-01, §1, 12-24-01, Ord 140-06, §1, 12-26-06) 

 
 

Sec. 17-32.  Reservation of public sites. 

 

 Where sites for parks, schools, playgrounds or other public uses except streets, as shown in the comprehensive plan, are 

located within the subdivision or minor land division area, the Common Council shall require that the sites be reserved by the 



Page | 8 

 

subdivider for a period of two (2) years from the date of approval of the Final Plat as specified in §17-29(e)(3).  If the a 

government agency, other than the City, concerned passes a resolution expressing its intent to acquire the land so to be 

reserved, the reservation process and time period specified in §17-29(e)(3) shall apply be extended for an additional six (6) 

months.  Public reservations shall be clearly identified on the plat; e.g., “Reserved for Public School Site”.  The Council may 

by resolution waive any reservation so required. 
(Code 1965, §21.13(2)(b), Ord 200-01, §1, 12-24-01, Ord 140-06, §1, 12-26-06) 

 

 

Sec. 17-33.  Private reservations. 

 

 Reservation of areas for the exclusive use of the occupants of a subdivision may be permitted by the Common Council 

when such reservations will not be contrary to the public health, safety, morals or general welfare, and such areas shall be 

clearly identified on the preliminary and final plats or certified survey maps as private reservations. 

(Code 1965, §21.13(2)(c), Ord 200-01, §1, 12-24-01, Ord 140-06, §1, 12-26-06) 

 

 

Sec. 17-34.  Right of refusal.    
 

 The number, size and location of all dedications, reservations or easements shall be subject to approval, and the Common 

Council shall ascertain that the proposed sites are suitable for the proposed uses.  The Council retains the right to refuse any 

dedication.  Upon refusal, an alternative parkland and/or trail dedication or payment in lieu of dedication shall occur. 

(Code 1965, §21.13(3), Ord 200-01, §1, 12-24-01, Ord 140-06, §1, 12-26-06) 

 

 

Sec. 17-35.  Accomplishment Acceptance of dedication. 

 

 When a final plat of a subdivision located in the City has been approved by the Common Council and all other required 

approvals are obtained and the plat is recorded, that approval constitutes acceptance for the purpose designated on the plat of 
all lands shown in the plat as dedicated to the public, including street dedications.  This also applies to certified survey maps 

following the process described in §17-29(h). 

(Code 1965, §21.13(4), Ord 200-01, §1, 12-24-01, Ord 140-06, §1, 12-26-06) 

 

RECOMMENDATION ___________________________________________________  _ 

Staff recommends the Plan Commission review the draft text amendments included in this report, discuss 

and receive public input on the proposed changes, and direct staff to make any revisions and prepare the 

necessary public hearing notices for Subdivision Ordinance text amendments to Section 17-3 General 

Provisions, Section 17-4 Preplatting Requirements, Section 17-29 Dedication of Public Sites and Open 

Spaces, Section 17-30 Identification of Dedicated Areas, Section 17-31 Reservation of Road Widths, 

Section 17-32 Reservation of Public Sites, Section 17-33 Private Reservations, Section 17-34 Right of 

Refusal, and Section 17-35 Accomplishment of Dedication. 



 

 

CITY OF APPLETON 
Appleton, Wisconsin 

 
FEE-IN-LIEU OF LAND DEDICATION AND  
PUBLIC FACILITY NEEDS ASSESSMENT 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Baker Tilly US, LLP 
4807 Innovate Lane 

P.O. Box 7398 
Madison, WI 53707-7398 

608 249 6622 
800 362 7301 

 
 

Dated: March 7, 2022 



 

 

Table of Contents 
 

 

 

 Page No. 

 

Executive Summary 1 – 2 

 

Introduction 3 

 

Section A – Statutory Requirements 4 

 

Section B – Compliance with Wisconsin Fee in Lieu of Land Dedication 5 – 6 

 

Section C – Fee Calculation and Land Dedication Requirements 7 – 10 

 

Appendix A 11 - 12 

 

 

 



City of Appleton 
Page 1 

 
 

 

Executive Summary 
 

 
The purpose of this project was to evaluate and update the City’s current fee-in-lieu of land 
dedication under Wisconsin Statute, Chapter 236, and Section 236.45 Local Subdivisions 
Requirements. If a municipality charges a fee-in-lieu of land dedication in accordance with 
Wisconsin State Statute 236.45(6) (am), the municipality must follow the procedures under s. 
66.0617 (3) to (5) and meet the requirements under s. 66.0617 (6) to (10). 
 
According to the City of Appleton’s (the “City”) 2019-2023 Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan 
(page 14), the City is expecting to have population growth of 3.0% every decade. This anticipated 
growth will require additions to the City’s parkland and park facilities. A fee-in-lieu of land dedication 
will continue to assist in financing the acquisition or initial improvement of land for public parks.  
 
The City currently charges a fee in lieu of land dedication as established by the following ordinance: 
 

Appleton, WI Municipal Code, Sec. 17-29. Ordinance No. 44-09, 3-10-2009 

 
Per the City, they have not updated the fee-in-lieu of land dedication since 2009. 
  
This document serves as a summary of Baker Tilly’s analysis of the City’s existing fee-in-lieu of land 
dedication. It also serves to satisfy the statutory obligations as outlined in Wisconsin Statute 66.0617 
and Wisconsin Statute 236.45 to update its existing fees and public facility needs assessment. The 
primary resources used in this development of this study include:  
 

 The City used the The City of Appleton 2019-2023 Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation (the 
Plan) as the facility needs assessment. 

 The City of Appleton 2019-2023 Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation (the Plan) as prepared 
by Rettler Corporation adopted on September 18, 2019. See the acknowledgements section 
of the Plan for those that were involved in its creation. The Plan is located on the City’s 
website. https://appletonparkandrec.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/FINAL-Appleton-CORP-
2019.pdf 

 The park inventory listing as provided by the City. This document was compiled by the City 
from the Plan. Refer to Appendix A. 
 

 The land cost as provided by the City. The land cost is based on the City-wide average cost 
of unimproved land acquisition based on recent land sales and the cost to improve the land 
for public parks. Per s. 236.45(6)(ac), “improvement for public parks” means grading, 
landscaping, installation of utilities, construction of sidewalks, installation of playground 
equipment, and construction or installation of restroom facilities on land intended for public 
park purposes.”  The average of four recent sales was used to determine an average cost per 
acre.  The four sales include the following: 

 
Tax Municipality Close Date Price Acres Est $/Acre Comments

City of Appleton 3/1/2021 $149,900 2.81 $53,345 single building site w/public water & sewer

City of Appleton 10/2/2020 $161,405 2.74 $58,907 single building site w/public water & sewer

City of Appleton 12/23/2020 $158,500 2.68 $59,142 single building site w/public water & sewer

City of Appleton 10/5/2020 $142,500 2.01 $70,896 single building site w/public water & sewer

average $60,572

  
 

 
 

https://appletonparkandrec.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/FINAL-Appleton-CORP-2019.pdf
https://appletonparkandrec.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/FINAL-Appleton-CORP-2019.pdf


City of Appleton 
Page 2 

 
 

 

Executive Summary (cont.)  
 

 

 U.S. Census data 2019 5-year estimates related to persons-per-household per dwelling unit 
type. 

 

https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?t=Housing&g=1600000US5502375&tid=ACSDP5Y2019.DP04&hide
Preview=true 

 
 
 
This study should be read in conjunction with these resources. We provide no assurance on the 
accuracy of the resources used to develop this study. 

https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?t=Housing&g=1600000US5502375&tid=ACSDP5Y2019.DP04&hidePreview=true
https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?t=Housing&g=1600000US5502375&tid=ACSDP5Y2019.DP04&hidePreview=true


City of Appleton 
Page 3 

 
 

 

Introduction  
 

 
As previously stated in the Executive Summary, the City expects to experience population growth 
through 2030. Planning responsibly for new growth within a community is one of many challenges 
facing local governments. Effective accommodation of this development requires additional park 
land to accommodate growth as well as the construction and upgrade of public facilities and 
infrastructure to serve new residents.  
 
It is common that during the construction and upgrade of public infrastructure, many residents and 
businesses that will occupy the newly developed areas of the community may not yet be present. 
The purchase of land and the development of land often precedes the inhabiting of the property. 
While this may be an obvious fact, it holds important consequence for the public financing of new 
development. In order to apportion the public costs of new development fairly and responsibly, some 
measures must be undertaken to ensure that the entire cost of accommodating new development is 
not born solely by the current residents of the municipality. One such measure to accomplish this 
goal is the use of a fee-in-lieu of land dedication to offset the initial cost to local taxpayers of 
satisfying the additional demand on the public infrastructure and park land. 



City of Appleton 
Page 4 

 
 

 

Section A – Statutory Requirements 
 

 
A fee-in-lieu of land dedication must follow the requirements of Wisconsin State Statute Chapter 236 
– Platting Lands and Recording and Vacating Plats. See the requirements below.  
 
In addition, if a municipality charges a fee-in-lieu of land dedication in accordance with Wisconsin 
State Statute 236.45(6) (am), the municipality must follow the procedures under s. 66.0617 (3) to (5) 
and meet the requirements under s. 66.0617 (6) to (10). The City understands these requirements.   
 
Wisconsin State Statute Chapter 236.45(6) – Requirements for Approval Conditions 
 

 Per Subsection(6)(ac), “Improvement of land for public parks” means grading, landscaping, 
installation of utilities, construction of sidewalks, installation of playground equipment, and 
construction or installation of restroom facilities on land intended for public park purposes.  

Based on the definition above, only allowable costs are included in the fee-in-lieu of land 
dedication.  

 Per Subsection (6)(b), any land dedication, easement, or other public improvement or fee for the 
acquisition or initial improvement of land for a public park that is required by a municipality, town, or 
county as a condition of approval under this chapter must bear a rational relationship to a need for 
the land dedication, easement, or other public improvement, parkland acquisition or initial 
improvement fee resulting from the subdivision or other division of land and must be proportional to 
the need. 

The City is meeting this requirement. The City is providing a service level of 6.99 acres per 1,000 
residents. See Appendix A. 

 Per Subsection (6)(c), If a subdivision ordinance of a municipality, town, or county requires, as a 
condition of approval under this chapter, that a subdivider dedicate land for public park, the 
municipality, town or county may offer the subdivider the option of either dedicating land consistent 
with the municipality’s, town’s or county’s park plan and comprehensive plan or paying a fee or 
other charge under par (am) in lieu of the dedication. If the subdivider elects to pay a fee or other 
charge under the paragraph, the fee or other charge is payable by the landowner to the 
municipality, town, or county upon issuance of a building permit by the municipality, town, or 
county. If the subdivider elects to dedicate land under this paragraph, unless the municipality, town, 
or county agrees otherwise, the subdivider only may dedicate land that is consistent with the 
municipality’s, town’s or county’s park plan and comprehensive plan.  

See Section C for the fee-in-lieu of land dedication fee calculation and the land dedication square 
footage requirements. If land dedication is selected, the City’s land dedication standard is 423.66 
square feet per person. See the assumptions and calculations in Section C. 

 

NOTE: The fee-in-lieu of land dedication requirements outlined in this section are subject to change by 
the legislature at any time. Refer to the state statute for the statutory requirements.  



City of Appleton 
Page 5 

 
 

 

Section B – Compliance with Wisconsin Fee-in-lieu of Land Dedication 
Requirements  
 

 

Fee-In-Lieu of Land Dedication Process 
 
See Wisconsin State Statute 66.0617 for the detailed process. In addition, if a municipality charges a 
fee-in-lieu of land dedication in accordance with Wisconsin State Statute 236.45(6), the municipality 
must follow the procedures under s. 66.0617 (3) to (5) and meet the requirements under s. 66.0617 
(6) to (10).  
 
The process followed and information utilized in the development of the fee-in-lieu of land dedication 
is summarized below: 

  

• Requires a Public Hearing (s. 66.0617 (3)):  

Class 1 notice under Chapter 985  

Provide copy of proposed ordinances  

Provide public facilities needs assessment  

• Based on a Public Facilities Needs Assessment (s. 66.0617 (4)):  

Inventory of existing facilities, including deficiencies  

Identification of new public facilities  

Estimated (or actual) capital cost of new public facilities  

Effect of recovering capital costs on affordable housing  

Available for public inspection and copying in the office of the clerk 

at least 20 days before hearing 

 

• Establish Accounting Requirements:  

Use of funds restricted  

Subject to refund  

• Specify Appeal Procedure (s. 66.0617 (10))  

 



City of Appleton 
Page 6 

 
 

 

Section B – Compliance with Wisconsin Fee-in-lieu of Land Dedication 
Requirements (cont.)  
 

 

Imposition of the Fee-in-lieu of Land Dedication 
 
The park fee-in-lieu of land dedication will be due upon issuance of a building permit.  

 

Wisconsin State Statute Section 66.0617(7) – Low-Cost Housing 

In general, the level of the fees in relation to average housing cost should not impede the affordability 
of low-cost housing. For example, including the proposed single-family fee-in-lieu of land dedication 
of $1,115, in a typical 30-year mortgage at 3% interest would equate to an additional monthly 
payment of $4.85.  According to Zillow, the median home price in Appleton is $204,832 (a). Assuming 
a down payment of 20%, the average monthly mortgage payment would be $691. The fee-in-lieu 
would be 0.7% of the monthly payment. In addition, if the owner of a multifamily dwelling were to 
include the proposed multi-family fees of $943 in a mortgage with the same terms, the additional 
monthly payment would be $3.98 or 0.4% of the monthly payment.  
 

Information from the 2015-2019 US Census showed that the City of Appleton’s median household income 

was $58,112 (2019 dollars). Wisconsin’s median household income was $61,747 (2019 dollars). 

 

(a) https://www.zillow.com/appleton-wi/home-values/ 

 

 

Updates to the Report 
 
The fee-in-lieu of land dedication should be evaluated for adjustment at least every five years to 
account for increases / decreases in raw land costs, grading and utilities. The City may also wish to 
adjust the fee periodically based on the Engineering News Record Municipal Cost Index.  This will 
allow for changes in growth, project costs, estimates or other projects to be incorporated into the fees. 
See assumptions for recommendations.  

https://www.zillow.com/appleton-wi/home-values/


City of Appleton 
Page 7 

 
 

 

Section C – Fee Calculation and Land Dedication Requirements 
 

 

Assumptions  
 

 The fee in lieu of parkland dedication was last updated in 2009.  

The City’s current 2019-2023 Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan (the Plan) was used as the 
basis for this study. This Plan was approved on September 18, 2019. As noted in the Plan, “A 
growing body of research provides evidence of the importance of parks, open space, 
and leisure programming to the environmental, social, and economic health of 
Communities.” The plan also supports the guidelines established in the City of Appleton 2010-
2030 Comprehensive Plan. Both plans can be found on the City website. 

https://appletonparkandrec.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/FINAL-Appleton-CORP-2019.pdf 

https://www.appleton.org/government/planning/city-of-appleton-comprehensive-plan-2010-2030 

 According to the City, 2020 Census data indicate the 2020 population estimate for the City is 
75,644, which is an increase of approximately 3,021 since the 2010 U.S. Census (72,623 
population) or a 4.1% increase. https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/appletoncitywisconsin   

 The City’s fee-in-lieu of land dedication standard is based on 529.08 acres of parkland. This is 
comprised of 242.06 acres of community parks, 178.32 acres of neighborhood parks and 
108.70 acres of special use parks such as Houdini Plaza and Reid Golf Course.  

 The land costs to calculate the fee-in-lieu of land dedication is based on the City-wide average 
cost of land acquisition and “improvements of land for public park costs” as allowed for under 
Chapter 236. Recent raw land sales with utility improvements show the average cost per acre 
is $60,572.  This is also refenced on Page 1. 

 Park development fees will not be assessed to nonresidential land uses as park usage is 
primarily residential in this community. 

 The Park & Open Space standards can be found in the City of Appleton 2019-2023 
Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan. 

 For purposes of this analysis, it is assumed that there will be an average of 2.59 persons per 
household for single-family housing units and 2.19 persons per household for duplex and 
multifamily housing units as per recent census data.  

 

https://appletonparkandrec.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/FINAL-Appleton-CORP-2019.pdf
https://www.appleton.org/government/planning/city-of-appleton-comprehensive-plan-2010-2030
https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/appletoncitywisconsin


City of Appleton 
Page 8 

 
 

 

Section C – Fee Calculation and Land Dedication Requirements (cont.) 
 

 

Assumptions (cont.) 
 

 The fee-in-lieu of land dedication standard used for consideration in this study is comprised of 
“active-parks” of 529.08 acres. While the type of land dedicated by developers is typically used 
for the development of active use parks, such use is not required. The city is currently providing 
6.99 acres of parkland per 1,000 residents using the 2020 population of 75,644. The calculation 
is (529.08 / 75,644)*1,000 = 6.99. 

 The City’s land dedication requirement is 304.67 square feet per person. This is computed as 
follows: (6.99 acres * 43,560 square feet in an acre) / 1,000 = 304.67 square foot per person. 
This is then multiplied by the persons per household to determine the land dedication square 
footage.  

 

Recommendation 
 
The City should consider whether its existing fee-in-lieu of land dedication fee should be updated 
with the fees identified and explained on the following pages.  
 



City of Appleton 
Page 9 

 
 

 

Section C – Fee Calculation and Land Dedication Requirements (cont.) 
 

 
 
Fee Summary  
 

1 2

Dwelling (A)

Unit Persons Cost per 3 (1*2)

Type per Household Person Fee

Single Family 2.59               423.66$           1,097.29$           

Multi-Family 2.19               423.66$           927.83$              

Standards:

Cost standard per acre 60,572$              B

Parkland acres per 1,000 residents 6.99                   C

Cost per Person:

Cost standard per acre 60,572$              B

Multiplied by: acres per person 0.0069943           per above

Cost per person 423.66$              

A) Source: U.S. Census Bureau

B) Per the City of Appleton - based recent land sales w/utilities

C) Per the City of Appleton CORP

  

 

 

 

 

 



City of Appleton 
Page 10 

 
 

 

Section C – Fee Calculation and Land Dedication Requirements (cont.) 

 

 
 

Land Dedication 

 

If land dedication is selected versus paying a fee-in-lieu of land dedication, the following land dedication 
square footage applies and will be applied prior to the Final Plat: 

 

Land Dedication Requirement

1 2

Dwelling (A) 3 (1*2)

Unit Persons Square Foot Land Dedication

Type per Household per Person Square Footage

Single Family 2.59 304.67             789.11                

Multi-Family 2.19 304.67             667.26                

Standards:

Square feet per acre 43,560                

Parkland acres per 1,000 residents 6.99                   B

Square Foot per Person:

          Parkland acres per person (7.11 / 1,000) 0.006994            B

          Multiplied by: Square feet per acre 43,560                per above

Square feet per person 304.67                

A) Source: U.S. Census Bureau

B) Per the City of Appleton



City of Appleton 
Page 11 

 
 

 

APPENDIX A 



City of Appleton 
Page 12 

 
 

 

Park

Park Type Acres

Included In Park Improvement Calculation 

1 Appleton Memorial (AMP) Community 140.10         

2 Erb Community 27.75           

3 Pierce Community 34.91           

4 Telulah Community 39.30           

Subtotal 242.06         

1 Alicia Neighborhood 12.00           

2 Arbutus Neighborhood 3.44      

3 City Neighborhood 8.00      

4 Colony Oaks Neighborhood 7.88            

5 Derks Neighborhood 9.07      

6 Einstein Neighborhood 6.60      

7 Ellen Kort Peace Neighborhood 3.38      

8 Green Meadows Neighborhood 5.60      

9 Highview Neighborhood 12.59     

10 Hoover Neighborhood 11.60     

11 Jaycee Neighborhood 4.00      

12 Jones Neighborhood 5.75      

13 Kiwanis Neighborhood 6.50      

14 Linwood Neighborhood 9.50      

15 Lions Neighborhood 4.40      

16 Lutz Neighborhood 2.70      

17 Mead Neighborhood 8.50      

18 Lundgaard Neighborhood 7.02      

19 Peabody Neighborhood 16.20     

20 Pioneer Neighborhood 0.52      

21 Providence Neighborhood 3.33      

22 Schaefer Neighborhood 6.40      

23 Summit Neighborhood 5.49      

24 Veterans Neighborhood 2.00      

25 Vosters Neighborhood 5.10      

26 Vulcan Heritage Neighborhood 2.05      

27 Woodland Neighborhood 8.70      

Subtotal 178.32         

1 Houdini Plaza Special Areas 1.00            

2 Reid Golf Course Special Areas 107.60         

3 Union Springs Special Areas 0.10            

Subtotal 108.70         

Total Park Acreage 529.08         

2020 Population 75,644         

Parkland per 1,000 residents 6.99            

 


	0000_Agenda
	0001_1_City Plan Minutes 11-9-22
	0002_1_InformalPublicHearingNotice_1208NOneidaSt_Rezoning5-22
	0003_1_InformalPublicHearingNotice_AppletonStPacificStOneidaSt_StreetVacation
	Sheets and Views
	CSM_Landscape


	0004_1_NoticeofInformalPublicHearing_AmendFloodplainOrd_LOMR_21-05-2374P_2022
	0005_1_StaffReport_1208NOneidaSt_Rezoning_For 12-14-22
	0006_1_StaffReport_AppletonStPacificStOneidaSt_StreetVacation_For12-14-22
	Sheets and Views
	CSM_Landscape


	0007_1_StaffReport_AmendFloodplainOrd_NorthEdgewoodEst_LOMR_For12-14-22
	0008_1_StaffReport_Whiting Field-Banta Bowl_CrossingPlatBoundary_For12-14-22
	0009_1_StaffReport_DraftTextAmendment_ParklandAndTrails_For12-14-22
	0009_2_FINAL 2022 Fee in Lieu Baker Tilly

